4. T

ን .

NAVAL POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL Monterey, California ODC, FILE COR



THESIS

A Sociotechnical Design for Implementing the Defense Data Network

by

David L. Woleslagle

March 1988

Thesis Advisor: Co-Advisor Judith H. Lind Benjamin J. Roberts

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.



	The Restrictive Markings	<u> </u>
	3 Distribution Asadafuaty of Report	
	Approved for public release	e: distribution is unlimited.
	Ta Name of Monitoring Organization	<u></u>
	Naval Postgraduate School	
	Monterey, CA 93943-5000	
	9 Procurement Instrument Identificat	ion Number
	10 Source of Funding Numbers Provide Humani No. Provat No.	
SI	GN FOR IMPLEMENTING	THE DEFENSE DATA
	14 Date of Report (year, month, day,	15 Page Count
	March 1988	
:h	ose of the author and do not re	neet the official policy or po-
-	rse if necessary and identity by block n	amber)
e		·/
ء ح ر	uter communications, change.	Communities
	ense Data Network at a militar aded, are examined. Sociotechn its benefits: this theory conte moroved performance. A tech	y organization. The effects of incal design is discussed as one ends that the social as well as nical analysis of applying this
Defenter Defenter Dis, eco	ense Data Network at a militar aded, are examined. Sociotechn e its benefits: this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adn mmendations for the study are:	y organization. The effects of iteal design is discussed as one indical design is discussed as well a- nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Veys</i> and
eve np efe ter izc e i s, co	ense Data Network at a militar aded, are examined. Sociotechn e its benefits: this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adn mmendations for the study are: pled.	y organization. The effects of incal design is discussed as one ends that the social as well as nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Keynersch</i>
eve p efe ter izo s, co m an	uter communications, change. The second black of the second black of the second black of the second black of the second benefits; this theory conternative of a questionnaire adminimendations for the study are: pled. npled.	y organization. The effects of itcal design is discussed as one onds that the social as well as nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Kommunical</i>
even p efe izo z i s, co m an uc	uter communications, change. ense Data Network at a militar, aded, are examined. Sociotechnic e its benefits: this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adm mmendations for the study are: pled. npled. cessful DDN implementation.	y organization. The effects of ical design is discussed as one index that the social as well a- nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent T_{abs}
referrer is, com	ense Data Network at a militar, aded, are examined. Sociotechn e its benefits: this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adn mmendations for the study are: pled. npled. cessful DDN implementation. formation of self-managed wor	y organization. The effects of ical design is discussed as one indical analysis of applying this ministered to three independent <i>Keystand</i>
ip if if ic ic ic ic ic ic ic ic ic ic ic ic ic	uter communications, change. ense Data Network at a militar, aded, are examined. Sociotechn e its benefits; this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adm mmendations for the study are: pled. appled. appled. formation of self-managed wor	y organization. The effects of incal design is discussed as one onds that the social as well as nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Konstantion</i>
evenp efet ter izco um san uc	ense Data Network at a militar, anded, are examined. Sociotechn e its benefits: this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adn mmendations for the study are: pled. npled. cessful DDN implementation. formation of self-managed wor	y organization. The effects of iteal design is discussed as one indefined that the social as well a- nical analysis of applying this anistered to three independent T_{222} and T_{222} and T_{2
np Defeater nize i is, 200 am san suc	ense Data Network at a militar aded, are examined. Sociotechn e its benefits: this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adn mmendations for the study are: pled. npled. cessful DDN implementation. formation of self-managed wor	y organization. The effects of ical design is discussed as one inds that the social as well a- nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Tryagenetic</i>
Defenter Defenter mize te i sis, eco am san suc	ense Data Network at a militar aded, are examined. Sociotechn e its benefits; this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adm mmendations for the study are: pled. npled. cessful DDN implementation. formation of self-managed wor	y organization. The effects of incal design is discussed as one onds that the social as well as nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Keylectron</i>
Defenter Defenter nize ter i sis, eco am san suc the	ense Data Network at a militar, aded, are examined. Sociotechn e its benefits; this theory conte mproved performance. A tech the result of a questionnaire adn mmendations for the study are: pled. npled. cessful DDN implementation. formation of self-managed wor	y organization. The effects of ical design is discussed as one onds that the social as well a- nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Proceed</i> :
Defenter Defecter isis, 2000 ann san suc	21 Abstract Security Classification	y organization. The effects of incal design is discussed as one onds that the social as well a- nical analysis of applying this ministered to three independent <i>Terre</i> and the social as well a- nical analysis of applying this ministered to three independent <i>Terre</i> and the social as well as well as well as well as well as well as well as well as well as well as ministered to three independent <i>Terre</i> as a second
evenp efet ter izco um san uc	21 Abstract Security Classification formation of self-managed wor 225 Telephone conclude Area codes (408) 646-2543	Communication. The effects of ical design is discussed as one nical design is discussed as well as nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Koncertic</i> k teams are recommended for 22c Office Sympol 55I i
eference en	21 Abstract Security Classification formation of self-managed wor 25 Telephone (include Area code) (408) 646-2543 be used until exhausted use on physical	y organization. The effects of incal design is discussed as one onds that the social as well a- nical analysis of applying this ninistered to three independent <i>Proceeds</i> k teams are recommended for 210 Office Sympol 551 i security classification of this page
	21 Abstract Security Classification formation of self-managed wor 25 Telephone (melude Area code) (408) 646-2543 be used until exhausted and are obsolete	y organization. The effects of incal design is discussed as one onds that the social as well a- nical analysis of applying this ministered to three independent <i>Toyo</i> , and k teams are recommended for 220 Office Sympol 551 i security classification of this page Unclassifie

security classification of this hage			
	REPORT DOCU	MENTATION PAGE	
la Report Security Classification Unclassifie	<u>ل</u>	(b Restrictive Markings	
Ly Signaty Classification Authority		3 Distribution Availability of Report Approved for public release	2: distribution is unlimited.
2 Press mana Oraen patien Romert Number -		5 Monstorgez Organization Report N	amhar s
 Subject Percenting Organization Namid Posteroiduato School 	nb Other Sympol	Ta Name of Monitoring Organization Naval Postgraduate School	
ns Address in the date and ZIP rodes		Th Address (,
Monterey, CA 93943-5000	the Other Strength of	Monterey, CA 93943-5000	on Number
se Address - rive state, and ZIP (side)		10 Source of Funding Numbers Program Flement No Project No	Liss No Work Lott Accord
We use the last security classification (${ m A}$ SO	CIOTECHNICAL D	DESIGN FOR IMPLEMENTING	THE DEFENSE DATA
NETWORK			
12 Personal Authority David L. Woleslag	e		
Master's Thesis	To	March 1988	7 15 Page Count 72
19 Supplementary Notation The views exp	ressed in this thesis ar	e those of the author and do not re	flect the official policy or p
This study examines the benefits computer-mediated communication, be effective means to implement the DI technical aspects of a system must be theory to DDN implementation is pro- samples of DDN users, also is include	nd lainity by block number of implementing the both intended and uni DN in order to maxi considered to general ovided. A social analy id. Conclusions and	r) Defense Data Network at a militar ntended, are examined. Sociotechr mize its benefits: this theory conte ate improved performance. A tech isis, the result of a questionnaire adn recommendations for the study are:	y organization. The effect nical design is discussed as ends that the social as well nical analysis of applying ninistered to three independ <i>Veryment</i> .
 If a stract is contact on reverse if necestary a This study examines the benefits computer-mediated communication. It effective means to implement the DI technical aspects of a system must be theory to DDN implementation is prosamples of DDN users, also is include DDN training is generally inade DDN skills generally are not reverse. Management structure and phile Participative, team-building acting successful DDN implementation 	nd lacitly by block number of implementing the both intended and uni DN in order to maxi e considered to general wided. A social analy ed. Conclusions and a quate at the facilities varded at the facilities bosophy are critical for vities that encourage t.	r) Defense Data Network at a militar ntended, are examined. Sociotechr mize its benefits: this theory conte ate improved performance. A tech sis, the result of a questionnaire adn recommendations for the study are: sampled. s sampled. s successful DDN implementation. the formation of self-managed wor	y organization. The effects fical design is discussed as o ends that the social as well nical analysis of applying t ninistered to three independ <i>Transact</i>
 19 Mixture of contract of referre g meeting a this study examines the benefits computer-mediated communication. It effective means to implement the Ditechnical aspects of a system must be theory to DDN implementation is presamples of DDN users, also is include DDN training is generally inade DDN skills generally are not referred. Management structure and phile Participative, team-building actions successful DDN implementation 	ort DTIC users	r) Defense Data Network at a militar ntended, are examined. Sociotechr mize its benefits: this theory conte ate improved performance. A tech sis, the result of a questionnaire adm recommendations for the study are: sampled. sampled. sampled. successful DDN implementation. the formation of self-managed wor the formation of self-managed wor 21 Abstract Security Classification Unclassified 225 Telephone (include Area code) (408) 646-2543	y organization. The effect nical design is discussed as wel- nical analysis of applying ninistered to three independ <i>Transaction</i> ik teams are recommended
 19 Austract is communic on reverse if measury a his study examines the benefits computer-mediated communication, he effective means to implement the Di- technical aspects of a system must be theory to DDN implementation is pro- samples of DDN users, also is include DDN training is generally inade DDN skills generally are not rev- Management structure and phile Participative, team-building acti- successful DDN implementation L. Distribution Availability of Vestract Inclusively unimited I same as rep- line assured unimited I same as rep- line Name of Responsible Individual Judith H. Lind DD FORM 1473.84 MAR 	ad lacitly by block number of implementing the both intended and unit DN in order to maxit considered to general ovided. A social analy ed. Conclusions and a quate at the facilities varded at the facilities boophy are critical for vities that encourage h. <u>STAPR edition in</u> All other	r) Defense Data Network at a militar ntended, are examined. Sociotechr mize its benefits: this theory conte ate improved performance. A tech sis, the result of a questionnaire adm recommendations for the study are: sampled. sampled. sampled. successful DDN implementation. the formation of self-managed wor the formation of self-managed wor <u>Unclassified</u> 225 Telephone (include Area code) (408) 646-2543 may be used until exhausted editions are obsolete	y organization. The effects fical design is discussed as o ends that the social as well nical analysis of applying th ninistered to three independ <i>Town of the social as well</i> is teams are recommended 22c Office Sympol 551 i security classification of this
 19 Arstract is connuclear encourse if necestary a this study examines the benefits computer-mediated communication. It effective means to implement the DI technical aspects of a system must be theory to DDN implementation is presamples of DDN users, also is include DDN training is generally inade DDN skills generally are not rest. Management structure and phile Participative, team-building actisuccessful DDN implementation La Distribution Availability of Abstract Inclusive of Responsible Individual Judith H. Lind DD FORM 1473,84 MAR 	ad latingly by block number of implementing the both intended and unit DN in order to maxic considered to general wided. A social analy ed. Conclusions and a quate at the facilities varded at the facilities boophy are critical for vities that encourage the DTIC users 83 APR edition in All other	r) Defense Data Network at a militar ntended, are examined. Sociotechr mize its benefits: this theory conte ate improved performance. A tech 'sis, the result of a questionnaire adm recommendations for the study are: sampled. sampled. successful DDN implementation. the formation of self-managed wor <u>Unclassified</u> 225 Telephone (include Area code) (408) 646-2543 may be used until exhausted editions are obsolete	y organization. The effect ical design is discussed as inds that the social as wel- nical analysis of applying ninistered to three independ <i>I</i> = ₂₇₆ and <i>I</i> = <i>I</i> = ₂₇₆ and <i>I</i> = <i>I</i> = <i>C</i> office Symbol <u>551 i</u> <u>security classification of this</u> <u>Unclass</u>
 19 Astractice manae on reverse g meestary a This study examines the benefits computer-mediated communication. It effective means to implement the Di- technical aspects of a system must be theory to DDN implementation is pro- samples of DDN users, also is include • DDN training is generally inade • DDN skills generally are not rev • Management structure and phile • Participative, team-building acti- successful DDN implementation 1. Distribution Availability of Vestraet 1. Distribution Availability of Vestrae	ad lachtly by block number of implementing the both intended and unit DN in order to maxic considered to general ovided. A social analy ed. Conclusions and a quate at the facilities varded at the facilities boophy are critical for vities that encourage h. <u>DTIC users</u> 83 APR edition in All other	r) Defense Data Network at a militar ntended, are examined. Sociotechr mize its benefits: this theory conte ate improved performance. A tech visis, the result of a questionnaire administre recommendations for the study are: sampled. is sampled. is sampled. is successful DDN implementation. the formation of self-managed wor interformation of self-managed wor interf	y organization. The effect fical design is discussed as ends that the social as well nical analysis of applying ninistered to three independ <i>Toyon and</i> the teams are recommended 22c Office Sympol 55I i security classification of this Uncluss

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

A Sociotechnical Design for Implementing the Defense Data Network

by

David L. Woleslagle Lieutenant, United States Navy B.B.A., Georgia State University, 1980

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN TELECOMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS MANAGEMENT

from the

NAVAL POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL March 1988

Author:	trand I distant
	David L. Woleslagle
Approved by:	Juditer H. Lind
	Judith H. Lind, Thesis Advisor
	Detrim A. Rowits
	Benjamin J. Roberts, Co-Advisor
	- HE
	David R. Whipple, Chairman,
	Department of Administrative Science
	/ liftung
	James M. Fremgen, Acting Dean of Information and Policy Sciences
	ü

ABSTRACT

This study examines the benefits of implementing the Defense Data Network at a military organization. The effects of computer-mediated communication, both intended and unintended, are examined. Sociotechnical design is discussed as one effective means to implement the DDN in order to maximize its benefits; this theory contends that the ocial as well as technical aspects of a system must be considered to generate improved performance. A technical analysis of applying this theory to DDN implementation is provided. A social analysis, the result of a questionnaire administered to three independent samples of DDN users, also is included. Conclusions and recommendations for the study are:

- DDN training is generally inadequate at the facilities sampled.
- DDN skills generally are not rewarded at the facilities sampled.
- Management structure and philosophy are critical for successful DDN implementation.
- Participative, team-building activities that encourage the formation of self-managed work teams are recommended for successful DDN implementation.

Acces	sion Fo	or
NTIS	GRALI	
DTIC	TAB	1
Unann	ounced	Ō
Justi	ficati o	n
By Distr Avai	ibution labilit	V Codes
Dist	Avail a Speci	and/or lal
A-1		

2020200

ŗ



iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ŝ

NI TREESE

L IN	TRODUCTION
А.	BACKGROUND 1
Β.	OBJECTIVES
C.	THESIS OVERVIEW
П. Т	HE DEFENSE DATA NETWORK
А.	HISTORY
B.	SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE
	1. Packet Switching
	2. Network Components
C.	LAYERED ARCHITECTURE
	1. Open Systems Interconnection
	2. The OSI Layers
D.	FUNCTIONAL COMPONENTS
	1. TELNET Protocol
	2. File Transfer Protocol
	3. Simple Mail Transfer Protocol 10
E.	ATTRIBUTES
III.	THE SOCIOTECHNICAL MODEL 12
A.	HISTORY
В.	DESIGN
C.	TECHNICAL SUBSYSTEM
D.	MOTIVATION
E.	SOCIAL SUBSYSTEM
2.	
IV -	FECHNICAL ANALYSIS OF DDN IMPLEMENTATION 21
1 V - A	SOURCES OF LINCERTAINTY 21
л .	1 Pulas Concerning Usage
	Kules Concerning Usage
	2. Usage Furpose
	- 5. Usage Costs

Β.	PROBLEMS IN IMPLEMENTING NEW TECHNOLOGY	23
	1. Organizational Bureaucracy	23
	2. Information Distortion	24
	3. Resistance to Change	25
C.	ELEMENTS AFFECTED BY NEW TECHNOLOGY	26
	1. Development of Skills	26
	2. Organizational Rules and Procedures	27
	3. Organizational Structure	28
	4. Organizational Culture	31
SC	OCIAL ANALYSIS OF DDN IMPLEMENTATION	33
А.	DATA COLLECTION	34
	1. Procedure	34
	2. Data Analysis	34
	3. Development and Use of Performance Measures	36
	4. Study Participants	36
	5. Study Limitations	36
B.	RESULTS	37
	1. User Experience	37
	2. User Learning	37
	3. Meaningful Contribution of the DDN	39
	4. Comfort With DDN	41
	5. Meaningful Job Future	42
	6. Job Autonomy	43
	7. Task Variety	44
	8. Exchange With Others	44
	9. Positive Aspects of the DDN	45
	10. Negative Aspects of the DDN	46
	11. Statistical Inference	47
C.	SUMMARY	49
C	ONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	51
ے م	CONCLUSIONS	51
	1 Presence of Sociotechnical Conditions	.) L 5 L
	1. Presence of Sociotechnical Conditions	-

10-14t-17-14t-1900-01-14t-94t

5

ŝ

2. Issues for Managerial Concern	
B. RECOMMENDATIONS	
C. SCOOLSTLD FURTHER RESEARCH	<u>ج</u>
APPENDIX A. GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS	,
APPENDIX B. DEFENSE DATA NETWORK QUESTIONNAIRE	¢
LIST OF REFERENCES	
INITIAL DISTRIBUTION LIST	
	e
	:
vi	

LIST OF FIGURES

Sec. 15" . 19" . 19" . 19"

8

); (.

COLOR OF THE

Figure	1. DDN Components
Figure	2. Layered Protocols
Figure	3. The OSI Architecture
Figure	4. Conversion Model of an Operations System
Figure	5. Effects of Core Job Characteristics 17
Figure	6. Percentage of Job Involving DDN Use
Figure	7. Training Used and Training Desired for the DDN

LIST OF TABLES

1. CORRELATION COEFFICIENT VALUES	Table 1.
2. PARTICIPANT EXPERIENCE LEVELS	Table 2.
3. EVALUATION OF DDN TRAINING (IN PERCENTAGES)	Table 3.
4. MEANINGFUL CONTRIBUTION OF THE DDN (IN PERCENT-	Table 4.
AGES) 41	
5. COMFORTABLE WITH USING DDN (IN PERCENTAGES) 42	Table 5.
6. MEANINGFUL JOB FUTURE FOR USERS (IN PERCENTAGES) . 42	Table 6.
7. JOB AUTONOMY FOR USERS (IN PERCENTAGES) 43	Table 7.
S. TASK VARIETY (IN PERCENTAGES)	Table S.
9. GROUP EXCHANGE (IN PERCENTAGES) 45	Table 9.
0. SAMPLE MEANS AND STANDARD DEVIATIONS 47	Table 10.
1. RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND	Table 11.
SELECTED QUESTIONS 49	

vш

I. INTRODUCTION

A. BACKGROUND

The implementation of the Defense Data Network (DDN) on the scale envisioned by its developers brings the military abruptly into the arena of computer-mediated communications. The DDN offers many technical enhancements that can meet the increasing needs of the military for information processing and transfer. However, current research on the introduction of new technology into an existing organization reveals that many problems can arise. An organization's emphasis during the implementation process often is only on the technical aspects of the new system. The underlying social subsystem is ignored, along with the complex networks of relationships and interactions between the people who comprise an organization.

This thesis examines sociotechnical theory as a method of evaluating the full impact of new technology on all components of an organization. Sociotechnical theory contends that the full benefits of a system cannot be realized unless both the technical and the social subsystems are each considered equally. This theory should be of particular interest to the management of a military site that installs the DDN. For the local manager, the technology of the DDN is largely fixed. However, the attitude and skill of the DDN manager will determine whether the new system is implemented in a manner that will achieve the fullest possible benefits.

B. OBJECTIVES

The goal of this thesis is to provide detailed information needed for managerial decision making, with respect to introducing the DDN at military sites. Specific objectives of this study are:

- Identify how, and for what, the DDN is used in organizations.
- Identify the effects of computer-mediated communications on an organization.
- Examine strategies for overcoming barriers to innovation and performance improvement.
- Discuss effective training methods for electronic communications systems.
- Identify the key conditions for successful system introduction as proposed by sociotechnical theory, and determine the extent to which these conditions are present in organizations with access to the DDN.

- 20111111 15555552
- Identify measures of performance for DDN use, and determine what factors can affect them.
- Propose a sociotechnical plan for introducing the DDN to military organizations.

C. THESIS OVERVIEW

This study takes a general approach to implementation of access to the DDN at nulitary sites. It does not address the installation of specific systems at specific locations. Emphasis is on acceptance of the new system by potential military and civilian users of the DDN.

The second chapter provides background information concerning the DDN, including its history, development, and benefits. The third chapter presents the key concepts of sociotechnical theory, tracing it from its origins to the development of a design for structuring organizations. The fourth chapter provides a technical analysis of organizations that have implemented computer-mediated communications systems, focusing on potential problems and solutions. The fifth chapter is an analysis, based on questionnaire data, of the social subsystems of several organizations that have the DDN installed. The sixth chapter provides conclusions and recommendations resulting from this study and proposes areas for further research.

II. THE DEFENSE DATA NETWORK

A. HISTORY

The Defense Data Network (DDN) is the sanctioned long-naul computer communications network for the United States Department of Defense (DOD).1 It was selected after an indepth study of competing systems. The DDN has evolved as an outgrowth of the military's attempt to create an optimum, world-wide data communications network. The DDN is managed by the Defense Data Network Program Office of the Defense Communication Agency (DCA). It is intended for users engaged in official government business, research, or the support of the same.

Military computer communications began with the ARPANET, a purely experimental network originated by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) in late 1969 to advance the state of the art in computer networking. ARPANET was successfully designed to allow various computers to communicate with each other, in a convenient and economic fashion. In 1975, the DCA assumed control of ARPANET operations. The DDN was officially established in 1982 to provide an administrative umbrella over existing and planned DOD networks. ARPANET was then split into two entities, ARPANET and MILNET. ARPANET remains oriented primarily toward research and development, while MILNET serves as an operational military network. [Ref. 1:pp. 12-15]

The DDN also includes three Defense Secure Networks (DSNETS): GENSER, WINCS, and SCINET. Each DSNET is a physically distinct subnetwork that carries classified traffic at a single security level.

The DCA maintains an all-purpose repository for collecting and distributing information about both ARPANET and MILNET at the Network Information Center (NIC) in Menlo Park, California. The NIC disseminates information and provides services via online interaction, written publications, and over a toll free telephone hot line. This is the best initial source for obtaining answers to questions regarding the DDN.

¹ Long haul communications are communications intended for use over a large geographic area, usually involving distances greater than 20 miles.

B. SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE

1. Packet Switching

The DDN was designed to take advantage of off-the-shelf technology developed for ARPANET. The heart of this is a network technology known as packet switching, which enables a message to be broken up into pieces, or "packets". Each packet has the same destination address as the original message, as well as a sequence number that indicates which part of the original message it represents. The packets are forwarded along the network until they all ultimately reach their destination, where they are reassembled and delivered in total. The entire operation is transparent to the user.

(ATTACK)

12244122

A key concept of packet switching in the DDN is that of adaptive routing. Essentially, this means that no predetermined, dedicated path exists for delivery of the packets. Instead, each packet takes the best route it can find at that time. This means that all packets from a given message do not necessarily take the same path. [Ref. 2:pp. 8-11]

2. Network Components

The physical components of the DDN consist of four basic parts:

- Packet switching subnetwork
- Gateways
- Host computers
- Terminals.

These can be grouped into two areas: the part managed by the DCA, consisting of the packet switching subnetwork and gateways, and the user-managed hosts and terminals. [Ref. 3:pp. 1.3-1.4]

The packet switching subnetwork is often referred to as the backbone system. Its primary elements are shown in Figure 1 on page 5 and consist of:

- Packet Switching Nodes (PSNs)
- Terminal Access Controllers (TACs)
- Monitoring Center.

The packet switching device employed by the DDN is a Bolt, Beranek, & Newman (BBN) C/30 minicomputer. The BBN C.30 is a programmable communications processor that can be configured as either a PSN or a TAC. The PSN routes packets through the network with a shortest path algorithm. In this process each PSN continuously receives estimates of queuing and transmission delay times to adjacent nodes. Packets are then routed to the node that promises the least average time to get



Figure 1. DDN Components: [Ref. 3:p. 1.3]

there and be processed. PSNs are interconnected by high-speed dedicated trunk lines. Multiple paths are provided to allow redundancy. The PSNs comprise the interface between network access devices (hosts and TACS) and the rest of the backbone network. They support two general host access protocols: X.25, and 1822 ARPANET Host Interface Protocol (AHIP). A protocol is the syntax of the language between two similar entities. That is, it is the set of rules that govern the way in which communication occurs.

The TAC is one of several devices that can be used to access the backbone network from a network host computer. TACs differ from PSNs in their software and input output configurations. Basically, they provide a method for asynchronous terminals to access the backbone network.

A host which supports X.25 or AHIP protocols can access a PSN directly through one of the PSN's 62 ports. TACs are used when hosts and terminals do not support X.25 or AHIP protocols. The TAC functions as a traffic manager, accepting inputs from up to 62 asynchronous terminal network subscribers, and directing them

through one of a PSN's high-speed ports. TACs also provide a security function by requiring the user to identify himself through a valid access code and password.

The Monitoring Center is a BBN C 70 computer that uses a network utilities program to monitor and control the network. This program sets up routines to oversee the network, manipulate data bases, display status, process control commands, and generate reports. In essence, it acts as referee, umpire, and judge for the entire network. [Ref. 4:pp. 5.12-5.15]

Gateways are network components that allow data transmissions to be transferred between networks. For example, gateways allow messages to be transferred between MILNET and ARPANET. Each gateway is a computer that is capable of acting as a network host on its attached networks. The gateway uses a special protocol, the Internet Protocol (IP), to control data flow, routing, and error checking.

In the subscriber portion of the DDN system, users can be categorized as either hosts or terminal users. Hosts are computers that can support either the AHIP or X.25 protocol, and thus can access the DDN directly through a dedicated circuit to the nearest PSN. Subscribers using other kinds of computers or asynchronous terminals must access the DDN through a TAC. TAC access requires only that terminals be configured to support ASCII code. In an ideal situation, users would all have synchronous equipment that supported backbone protocols. However, the disparities in equipment utilized by the variety of activities supported by the network make this impossible. As a result, the DDN Program Manager is committed to providing network access support devices for non-X.25 and non-AHIP equipment. [Ref. 5:pp. 7.2-7.5]

C. LAYERED ARCHITECTURE

The concept of a layered computer architecture is that similar network functions are logically grouped together. In the DDN and other layered architectures, the communicating entities are known as layers. Layers are arranged in a vertical hierarchy so that network functions can be performed in a sequential order. Each layer provides services to the layer directly above it, and utilizes the services of the layer directly below it. An overview of the layers is shown in Figure 2 on page 7.

1. Open Systems Interconnection

The increase in communications systems and equipment has created the need for a framework that allows the development of standards. The purpose of communications networks is to communicate, and without some method of coordination this would be nearly impossible. The International Standards Organization (ISO) responded



Figure 2. Layered Protocols: [Ref. 4:p. 6.7a]

to this need by devising a multilayered architecture that will facilitate the establishment of standards to achieve interoperability between computer systems. The model they devised is the Open Systems Interconnection (OSI) model. See Figure 3 on page 8 for an example of this model.

Interoperability is attained by adopting standardized protocols for each of the model's seven layers. Only the lowest layer has an actual physical connection; that is, only in this layer is there an actual exchange of raw bit streams. In all others, only a

NEESS RULL



Figure 3. The OSI Architecture: [Ref. 5:p. 3.10]

logical connection is established. Each must send data down to the next layer in order to get it across to another system. The layers and data flow are like the floors and occupants of an office building. People, like data, can move between floors, but can only get to another building by exiting through the bottom floor. A brief description of each layer and how it is used in the DDN follows. [Ref. 5:pp. 3.8-3.12]

2. The OSI Layers

14 Pak 14. 14. 19.

- *Physical Layer* This layer defines the physical interface between devices, along with the rules by which bits are passed from one to another. It is said to determine the interface between data terminal equipment (DTE) and data circuit terminating equipment (DCE).
- Data Link Layer This layer provides an assured, error-free link for data flow, and the means to activate, maintain, and deactivate the link.
- Network Layer This layer creates and exchanges packets between a host and a network, and between network components. Two DDN protocols are used here.

The internet protocol (IP) is responsible for routing and delivering data between networks. The network access protocol establishes the connection between the host and backbone network. The network access protocol can invoke protocols in the lower layers. The preferred network access protocol for the DDN is X.25 Standard, but AHIP 1822 and X.25 Basic will be supported until 1991.

- Transport Layer This layer provides a reliable mechanism for the exchange of data between different systems. It ensures that data are delivered error free, in sequence, and with no losses or duplication. The standard protocol for the DDN is the DOD standard transmission control protocol (TCP). The TCP results in reliable communications between hosts.
- Session Layer This layer provides an end-to-end procedure that establishes, maintains, and terminates logical relationships between processes in the higher layers. Standard DDN protocols include telecommunications network (TELNET) protocol, file transfer protocol (FTP), and simple mail transfer protocol (SMTP).
- *Presentation Layer* This layer provides a host-to-host procedure that prescribes data formatting and data transformation. In the DDN, the presentation layer is combined with the session layer.
- Application Layer This layer provides a means for application processes to access the OSI environment. It contains management functions and mechanisms to support distributed applications. There are no DDN standards for this layer.

D. FUNCTIONAL COMPONENTS

The DDN offers a number of services that are of special interest to subscribers. They are transparent to the user, but rely heavily on the previously mentioned protocols. Though details of use vary from host to host, depending on the software installed, three functions stand out as applicable across the network. They are TELNET, FTP, and SMTP.

1. TELNET Protocol

TELNET is the DDN function that allows a user to log in to a remote host from a local host, that is, one at his location. Once connected and logged in, the user can enter data, run programs, or perform any other operation just as if he were logged in directly at the remote computer on which he is working [Ref. 2:p. 34]. The TELNET protocol utilizes the idea of a network virtual terminal: characteristics of specific terminals are mapped into the network standard to allow terminals from a variety of vendors to be connected to a variety of hosts. TELNET also specifies the protocol between hosts that allows such things as differing line width and page size to be resolved. All TELNET data exchange is provided for through TCP.

2. File Transfer Protocol

FTP is used to transfer a file or portion of a file from one system to another. This can be done despite different computers and file storage formats. The user can

transfer a file from or to another system, or even between two remote systems. The FTP programs of the two systems communicate through TCP. ITP offers a number of options. Text files can be transferred using ASCII or EBCDIC character codes. Data can be compressed to reduce communication costs. FTP also provides mechanisms for controlling user access. In order to access files on a given system, a user must have an authorized password for that system.

3. Simple Mail Transfer Protocol

SMTP provides the basis for a network electronic mail facility. A file exists in which electronic mail is stored for each user who has access to the system, similar to a postal mailbox. When a user signs on to that host, he can send mail by placing a message in the host's outgoing mailbox, or in the mailbox of another user and can receive mail by reading messages in his own mailbox. Typically, mailboxes are maintained through a computer's file management system. Each mailbox is a portion of computer memory that can contain text files. These files are messages that can be printed out, read, or deleted using the local software mail program. SMTP sets up a mechanism for transferring messages among separate host systems. Thus a user can send mail anywhere in the DDN, making use of TCP. The user usually sees the same mail program interface whether sending local or remote mail, so he only has to learn one format. [Ref. 6]

E. ATTRIBUTES

The DDN is primarily designed to be an operational DOD network. As such, it incorporates many qualities that contribute to overall effectiveness. The first of these, especially important to a military system, is survivability. This is enhanced by redundancy. As of early 1987, some 200 PSNs are channeling data along some 300 trunk lines [Ref. 7]. These nodes, backed up at critical locations, are dispersed over a wide geographic area. The dynamic DDN adaptive routing algorithm automatically routes traffic around damaged or congested circuits. Four levels of precedence ensure that essential, time sensitive data can get through in an emergency. In addition, the automatic monitoring of the multiple trunks, switches, and access lines helps ensure that the DDN will gracefully degrade when transmission paths begin to go down.

Availability is a critical DDN attribute: the system operates 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The inherent redundancy of the system allows a predicted 99% availability rate for electronic communications. Dual homing, in which two access lines are connected to two different switching nodes, increases this availability up to 99.95%. [Ref. 4:p. 6.2]

Transmission quality and network delay are also important DDN attributes. Transmission quality is the probability that a message will reach the desired destination (measured by the probability of a misdirected packet) and the chances that it will contain no mistakes (measured by the bit error rate). A 16 bit cyclic redundancy check used on all access and trunk circuits, coupled with a 16 bit checksum utililized for TCP subscribers, gives an overall undetected bit error rate of less than 0.00000000000000000029, or about one occurance every 174,000 years. This same checking system also yields a probability that a packet will be misdelivered only about once out of every 184 billion packets.

Network delay is measured as the time it takes for a packet to be routed through the backbone network. This depends on several factors, including packet size, transmission rate, and precedence level. On the average, this delay is calculated to be 0.09 second for a high precedence message, falling off to 0.122 second for lower precedence traffic. [Ref. 4:pp. 6.3-6.5]

III. THE SOCIOTECHNICAL MODEL

A. HISTORY

The sociotechnical theory of job design, though initially sounding imposing, is essentially a simple proposition. It postulates that there are two inseparable components at any work site--the equipment used to perform work, or technical aspects, and the people who use the equipment, or social aspects. The goal of sociotechnical theory, at its most basic level, is to find the best match between the two. This simple premise, which appears to be common sense, all too often breaks down in practical application. In actual managerial usage, technical aspects are often emphasized to the exclusion of the social. Efforts are concentrated on expanding the technological base (not a bad thing in itself), but little thought is given to how people will use this technology. The purchase of new technological equipment does not automatically result in productive use of the same [Ref. 8]. The users must accept and comprehend the technology in order to realize potential benefits fully. Sociotechnical theory arose to attempt to bridge the gap between hardware and software systems and the people who use them.

Sociotechnical theory has its beginnings in the period shortly after World War II. In the late 1940s, a group of researchers from the Tavistock Institute made a startling observation in the coal industry. Though new production technologies had recently been employed, not all coal mines reaped the same benefits. The productivity of workers employed at production-line-style sites was consistently lower than that of workers at sites where they were organized in small groups. Thus, the researchers postulated that high performance, technology, and work organization need to support each other. [Ref. 9:pp. 33-36]

This conclusion ran counter to the then-prevailing view that productivity is strictly a function of industrial engineering. The ensuing years have produced voluminous research exploring the interactions between men and technology. The terminology varies, depending on the researcher, but the conclusions are similar. Technology is only one side of the coin. The characteristics of the users must be considered, to attain the desired benefits of advanced equipment.

B. DESIGN

The sociotechnical model used in this thesis draws heavily on the model design done by Pava [Ref. 9]. Sociotechnical design contains elements of both theory and procedure. The emphasis is on the work organization, and on how reorganization can provide a more satisfying and productive environment. The key idea underlying sociotechnical design is the view of the organization as an open system. A systems approach regards the organization as a set of interrelated parts, called subsystems, that transforms various inputs into desired outputs. This relationship is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Conversion Model of an Operations System: [Ref. 10:p. 200]

The subsystems exhibit synergy in that the parts are more productive working together than independently. Control is exercised by the use of feedback, which is information that measures the difference between desired and actual output. The system is considered open because it extensively interacts with, and is influenced by, its environment [Ref. 10:p.44].

There are several premises in this approach. The first is that of the importance of self design. Ideas are better accepted if they originate from within the organization. This encourages collaboration and fosters a feeling of participation, as well as revealing what the workers feel needs to be improved.

PULLIN SYNNY

The second premise is that details of a work system should not be overspecified in advance. At any point in the design process, only the minimum critical specifications should be defined. This allows for further adaptation once the minimum criteria have been met.

Finally, the design process is considered to be open-ended. This means the job is never really over. The entire process is continuously under review and subject to alteration as conditions change. Sociotechnical design encourages the development of organization members who are capable of adjusting to change. [Ref. 9:pp. 17-18]

C. TECHNICAL SUBSYSTEM

The sociotechnical approach regards the technical subsystem as the tools and techniques used to convert inputs into desired outputs. To a large extent, this is primarily the management of uncertainty. Galbraith defines uncertainty as "... the difference between the amount of information required to perform a task and the amount already possessed by the organization" [Ref. 11:p. 5]. The level of uncertainty is directly proportional to

- Instability of the environment
- Complexity of the tasks
- Level of task interdependence. [Ref. 12:pp. 126-27]

As the level of uncertainty increases, so does the need for processing information. In an organization where new technology has been introduced, four major elements are often affected.

- Operator skills. New knowledge and skills are required to utilize the technology.
- *Procedural enhancements.* The work of nonoperators must change to accomodate limitations of a system, such as adapting new administrative procedures.
- Structure. Changes in the organizational structure, such as allocation of responsibility, information flow, role coordination, incentives, and compensation, are necessary.
- Culture. Profound changes may be required in the core beliefs that comprise an organization. These include things like status differentiation, definition of mission, and underlying management philosophy. [Ref. 9:pp. 3-5]

All of these elements can contribute to confusion in an enterprise. Two options are available to organizations operating under a mismatch between information processing needs and capabilities. One is to reduce uncertainty. This can be accomplished by increasing the amount of resource inputs, such as men, material, or time, to yield a desired output (goods or services). This is known as introducing slack. The second option is to increase the capacity to process information. This can be done by changing the tasks or their interrelationships. The result is a decentralized decision-making process, meaning decisions are made at the lowest possible level.

A key concept in sociotechnical analysis is identifying where the areas of greatest uncertainty occur. The greatest chance for making mistakes lies in these areas. Benefits accrue from placing the information, authority, and skills needed to control errors at the points where they will do the most good: the lines of authority are more horizontal than vertical. From the sociotechnical viewpoint, this improves response, encourages participation, and improves performance.

D. MOTIVATION

The sociotechnical design process is centered around the principle of motivation. Motivation is that which instigates, focuses, and supports people's behaviour. The traditional view of motivational theory held that people naturally disliked work. Work was regarded as dull and repetitive. It was the job of the manager to create financial incentives in order to get workers to perform. However, the recent works of many researchers have provided an alterative position, that of a human resources model of motivation. This model proposes that people do not inherently find work distasteful. They want, even need, to contribute to meaningful goals when they have had an input in setting those goals. The concept embodied in this model is that most people can exercise far more creativity, self-direction, and self-control than their present jobs require [Ref. 10:pp. 419-420].

All people bring certain needs with them to a workplace. Their motivation is directly correlated with the degree to which these needs are fulfilled. It is the manager's function to meet the organizational goals better by tailoring the characteristics of the job to fit the needs of the workforce.

Fredrick Herzberg developed a two-factor theory to explain what these needs are and what determines them. He called the first group hygiene factors. These include salary, working conditions, and company policies. Hygiene factors deal with the worker's relationship to the organizational environment. When low, they can cause dissatisfaction. But, when high, the best they can cause is a not-dissatisfied, or neutral, condition. The second group of factors relates to job content, and includes things such as achievement, recognition, and responsibility. Herzberg called these motivating factors. Motivating factors, when high, result in job satisfaction. When low, the worst effect they can have is a neutral state. Thus, job satisfaction and job dissatisfaction are influenced by different factors. [Ref. 13]

E. SOCIAL SUBSYSTEM

The social subsystem is concerned with two primary areas: (1) the division of work, and (2) the methods of coordination used to control uncertainty in the technical conversion process. The division of work in an organization defines the manner in which tasks are assigned. It implicitly specifies the roles people play, i.e., what their jobs are. Hackman and Oldham have identified five core job dimensions. They are:

- *Skill Variety.* The extent to which a variety of skills and talents are required to accomplish the assigned tasks.
- *Task Identity.* The extent to which the job involves completion of an identifiable unit, project, or other piece of work.
- *Task Significance*. The extent to which the task affects the work or lives of others, inside or outside the organization.
- *Autonomy.* The extent to which the individual has freedom on the job, and the discretion to schedule tasks and determine procedures for carrying them out.
- *Feedback*. The extent to which an individual has receives praise, blame, or criticism about the effectiveness with which tasks have been performed. [Ref. 14:pp. 159-170]

Meaningfulness, responsibility, and an understanding of the results of one's work are critical factors in generating motivation and job satisfaction. Researchers have shown that a high degree of skill variety, task identity, and task significance all contribute meaning to the job. Increased autonomy results in a greater sense of responsibility. Feedback instills in the workers a sense of understanding of their roles and functions in the organization. Thus, the design of the job is extremely important. The effects of these core characteristics are illustrated in Figure 5 on page 17.

The sociotechnical design of jobs is intended to make the job something worth doing well. This runs against the traditional industrial engineering approach to work. In this older approach the goal is to simplify work, often to a minimal number of mundane, repetitive steps. All too frequently this can be the end product of automation. Efficiency is improved, but at the cost of variety in the work, and of identity and autonomy in the workforce. The ultimate effect on productivity varies. Workers with high needs for personal growth may become dissatisfied and experience a decrease in performance, while those who fail to identify with their jobs want to keep things as simple as possible [Ref. 10:pp. 235-241]. Sociotechnical intervention seeks to determine what the needs of the workforce are, and encourages commitment and involvement.

• Sectors - Excerts





Once the work has been divided, the jobs must be coordinated to produce the desired outcomes. The amount of coordination needed depends on how much information flow is required to perform tasks, and on the level of interdependence between the groups performing them. Interdependence relates to the degree that one group relies on other groups to complete a finished product. Coordination needs increase as work becomes more dynamic, the environment changes, and interdependence is high. It is achieved through a variety of methods. The organization's chain of command can specify relationships between workers. Rules and procedures can be installed to handle routine events. In addition, the use of planning and goal setting attain coordination by directing efforts to the same targets.

When these relatively simple methods do not provide the necessary coordination, other, more complex means can be employed. Coordination can come from upper or from cross levels in the organization. Vertical coordination methods involve data transfer up and down the chain of command. For example, control can be effected through computerized management information systems. A potential problem is that

if a work force is already disenfranchised by automation, this is adding fuel to the fire. Horizontal coordination mechanisms cut across the management layers. This allows information exchange and decision making at the level where the needed information exists. Horizontal coordination can be facilitated by creating a liason role between departments with frequent contact, a process known as boundary spanning. Individual expertise can be pooled by forming teams, thereby channeling efforts to a common end. [Ref. 10:pp. 264-268]

FSCARCE

NUN 2252223

It is on this concept of team building that sociotechnical design is focused. The formation of work groups is encouraged. Group members learn how to perform multiple jobs. Training is done within the group. The group determines task assignments and means of coordination, without involving higher level supervision. The group members are treated as valuable resources. They serve to enhance both the structure of the social subsystem at work and the social relations among the people on the job. [Ref. 9:p. 23]

Bertrand Russell said:

Work is of two kinds: first, altering the position of matter at or near the earth's surface relatively to other such matters; second, telling other people to do so. The first is unpleasant and ill paid; the second is pleasant and highly paid. [Ref. 15]

Management, which falls into Russell's second category, is an information-intensive activity. Computer-mediated communications systems such as the DDN provide the promise of significant benefits for the manager who can optime the use of this technology. Part of the benefits accrue through increased efficiency, that is, the ability to produce more with less. However, the greatest benefits can be realized through increasing effectiveness. In the simplest terms, the essential function of an organization is one of adding value. This value is what is imparted during the conversion process of inputs to outputs by the organization's activities. The technology is a tool, not an end in this process. The key ingredient in attaining greater effectiveness is the human factor. Management gets the greatest payoff from a new technology by increasing the value added by the workers. It follows then, that it is incumbent upon management to create and sustain the conditions that lead to the greatest value added by the workforce. [Ref. 16]

Sociotechnical design proposes to create the best possible scenario for maximizing the human value-added potential. In practice there is no set formula for optimum performance. No one can devise a scheme to encompass all the variables that go into this optimum, and sociotechnical theory says that no one should. The goal, instead, is to set the stage to allow the greatest possible flow of ideas to occur, and from this flow the best feasible solutions will arise.

The method recommended by sociotechnical theory is the formation of natural work groups as the basic organizational building block. Some analysts have said that any work process should be organized around the self-managed team concept [Ref. 17:p. 297]. Using one approach to team formation, a company specified that every person in the organization should become part of a group consisting of eight to fifteen people. Each group was highly autonomous: responsible for its own scheduling, training, problem-solving, and many other activities. The teams developed their own quantitative performance indicators. Meetings occured at least once a week. Members were rewarded as a group by top management; individual performance ratings emphasized support for the team. Job specialization was virtually eliminated due to the emphasis on cross training members in all areas of the group's responsibilities. The results for the organization as a whole were improved productivity and quality. [Ref. 17:p. 298-300]

The organization of work groups revolves around four major principles:

- The group is responsible for a specific product.
- The group is expected and helped to become self-regulating.
- Groups have multi-skilled responsibilities.
- Skill-based rewards are given to group members. [Ref. 9:p. 30]

Self-managed teams might be perceived as a threat to the rank structure in a military organization. This need not be the case. Top management, as personified by the upper rank echelons, sets the policies and objectives for the organization. The teams carry them out. The important distinction here is that there is no over-specification or "micro-managing" of how these objectives are met. The decision-making process, which is contingent on information (the primary output of the DDN), is devolved to the teams. This is where the greatest expertise and experience resides. In cases where the teams fail to reach a consensus, the decision can be passed up to the next level in the chain of command. The incentive is created for the teams to resolve their own problems to avoid the costs of high level intervention.

IBM uses this technique in its budgeting procedure. Certain budgets are constructed by negotiation among all concerned parties. Each member has the option of concurring or not concurring with proposals. Non-concurrences that cannot be resolved escalate through the corporate ranks, until, if still not resolved, a central management committee renders a decision. Thus, top management stimulates a variety of participation and constructive negotiations among the people in the company who are closest to the problem, while simultaneously reinforcing key corporate objectives and policies.

AZACI VERSIONAN ACCERCIAN PROCESSION - 20000000 - 200000000 S

A. SOURCES OF UNCERTAINTY

The DDN is, in its essence, a computer-aided communications medium. The introduction of it into a military organization is similar to the expansion in recent years of automation in the offices of the private sector. There is a large body of literature and research about this automation process that is of interest to the management of a site utilizing the DDN. Electronic communications are changing the way business is conducted, and have the potential to change how work is done. Electronic mail, in particular, opens up a Pandora's box of change in communications. The sociotechnical approach is to implement these changes in a manner that does not disrupt the social system of the work setting.

As discussed in the previous chapter, the primary purpose of the technical system is to reduce uncertainty. The very act of implementing a new system creates an uncertain environment. This uncertainty is heightened to the degree that tasks are complex and interrelated. In the communications milieu, management must answer the questions of who can use the system, what they can use it for, and how much it will cost. The answers to these questions can be partially derived through the experiences of other organizations in implementing electronic communications systems.

1. Rules Concerning Usage

Tushman and Nadler contend that uncertainty can be reduced through the use of rules and procedures [Ref. 18]. These rules and procedures would ideally be derived through participative negotiation. Those involved in the work process have a good conception of who needs to do what.

A good example is provided by Digital Electronics, a large corporation which recently installed an electronic communications system with over 6000 users. The company developed a set of guidelines for determining access. Electronic mail accounts were authorized on the basis of:

- The need to send a specified number of messages daily
- The need to communicate over a large geographic area
- The need to communicate with hard-to-reach personnel
- The need to coordinate and keep current on project information. [Ref. 19:p. 8]

Although obviously not comprehensive, these criteria provide a groundwork for negotiating the allocation of subscriber access.

2222222

N DROVA

LAND XOUGULU

2. Usage Purpose

The question of what computer-aided communications should be used for raises an interesting dilemma. Should usage be limited to task-related functions? And, if so, what exactly determines the relationship to task? One study of 96 organizations identified over 30 different purposes for electronic interaction [Ref. 20:p. 125]. Many of these could be classified as social, rather than strictly production-related functions. For example, social dialogue is often found among ARPANET users, although such interaction is officially discouraged. This social usage may not be dysfunctional. The use of electronic communication can help to integrate individuals into the organization. This networking effect can be used to support task-related information flow. Cohesiveness among employees may increase. Social use can encourage workers to improve their knowledge of the system, much the same way computer games increase the player's interaction and familiarity with computers. In effect, social use may be a means of establishing the lateral relations deemed necessary for processing work-related uncertainty. [Ref. 20:pp. 125-134]

3. Usage Costs

The subject of cost must receive serious consideration, especially in an era of declining budgets. The allocation of scarce resources (and no resource is perceived to be scarcer than money in a budget crunch) is a critical issue for management in any organization. Funding in the DOD is not static; money flows to those areas that, in the Congressional eye, demonstrate the most "bang for the buck." Thus, the manager is uncertain as to what amount will be included in next year's budget. This uncertainty can snowball through an organization, as each department tries to protect its budget base. New systems, with unproven effectiveness, tend to be highly suspect when budget cuts must be made.

Costs of the DDN can be broken down into two types: initial costs, which include those of installation, equipment, and routine maintenance, and transaction costs, which are the charges levied for using the network. In its early stages, transaction costs on the DDN have been financed solely by the DCA. However, as the program matures, these costs will be shifted to the subscribers. Uncertainty arises from the lack of knowledge about how these costs will be applied. BBN has proposed a usage-based cost recovery system that reflects the current commercial tariffs [Ref. 21]. Costs would be roughly analogous to phone bills: price is determined by when and for how long the user is on the line. Although an indepth analysis of potential costing techniques is beyond the scope of this thesis, it seems clear that costs will be based at least partly on peak traffic usage and packet size [Ref. 22].

A pertinent topic in the area of costs is that of relevancy. The DDN, by directive, will be installed. This makes transaction costs the focal issue. Communications will occur: it is only the medium through which they do so that must be decided. In the Digital Electronics example used previously, the company performed a cost benefit analysis on communication through different media, considering such factors as equipment, labor, tariffs, and frequency of use. They found that the cost of sending one message via a computer-mediated path was the most expensive, but the cost of each additional message sent dropped dramatically when compared with other media. Ultimately, they realized a substantial marginal cost savings by using electronic mail [Ref. 19:p. 11].

The DOD currently spends approximately S204 million annually on the Automatic Voice Network (AUTOVON), and S90 million for the A comatic Distribution Network (AUTODIN) [Ref. 23]. These figures do not reflect the hidden costs of labor and frustration that can ensue from a long round of "telephone tag" with an elusive target. The extent to which DDN usage reduces these costs is a de facto savings that can be attributed to the system.

B. PROBLEMS IN IMPLEMENTING NEW TECHNOLOGY

1. Organizational Bureaucracy

When a military site comes online within the DDN, it is implementing an innovative change within the organization. This organization is of a type known (perhaps infamously) as a bureaucracy. A bureaucracy is denoted by:

- Large size
- Dependance on it by the majority of the members for most of their income
- Hiring, promotion, and retention that are based on some assessment of organizational role performance
- A major portion of output that is not evaluated in the economic market.

Additional characteristics include hierarchical structure, impersonality of operations, and the extensive use of rules. [Ref. 24:pp. 24-26]

2.005 **222222 - 22**22223

In a bureaucracy, two traits stand out that have an effect on a sociotechnical approach for introducing the DDN: (a) the need for communications networks, and (b) multiple internal conditions that provide resistance to change.

The sheer size and complexity of bureaucracies necessitate a large volume of communications. These fall into two basic categories. The first is formal communications. These are regarded as official by the bureau. A plan of the day would be an official communication. The second type is known as informal. These incorporate the unwritten organizational rules and procedures, and reflect the personalities of the organizational members. For example, short interoffice correspondence falls in the informal category. Formal communications tend to flow along vertical channels, whereas informal communications flow horizontally. The majority of communications in an organization are informal [Ref. 24:p. 113]. Both types can be facilitated by the DDN. The electronic network provides the linkages between the formal and informal, but important, social networks.

2. Information Distortion

An inherent problem in flow of information is that of possible distortion. Distortion is the result of tampering with information due to bias on the part of the sender. Bias is an unavoidable product of such things as prejudice, intentional or unintentional selective editing of facts, or just simple human error. Decision making in an organization is contingent on information. When this information is faulty, it impinges on the quality of the decisions made. One of the primary methods of reducing distortion is through redundancy, that is, the duplication of information through alternative sources for the purpose of verification. [Ref. 24:pp. 112-120]

Electronic communications are ideal for redundant communications. Data files are readily transferable. Inputs and opinions can be obtained from a variety of sources through electronic mail. In addition, information sources external to an organization can be tapped through the DDN if necessary. The ability to transfer information literally at the touch of a key will greatly assist the collection proce ∞

While electronic communications will enhance the ability to gather information, there is a downside risk that the volume of information will adversely affect the decision making process. One study found that decision makers have a nearly insatiable appetite for information. They will assimilate information beyond the amount that would be reasonably assumed to be needed to make a decision, and force themselves into a condition of information overload, adversely affecting their decisions. Curiously, though the study concluded that information overload may result in poorer performance, these decision makers experienced greater satisfaction and confidence in their decisions. [Ref. 25]

The conclusion for managers of a DDN site is clear. Electronic communications should facilitate effective communication and reduce distortion. The means of achieving this, however, are less clear. The emphasis of innovation in computer-mediated communications has been on efficiency, that is, on increasing the throughput of information. This emphasis can result in the garbage-in, garbage-out syndrome familiar to programmers. In sociotechnical parlance, this phenomenon is known as micromyopia. Micromyopia is the assumption that increasing the efficiency of the parts of an organization will result in greater efficiency for the whole set of work activities [Ref. 9:p. 53]. This does not automatically happen. Greater attention must be given to improving the effectiveness (rather than the volume) of the information communicated. One key might be that the findings concerning the negative effects of information overload were based on individual decision makers, not on groups. When the goal is determining a means of improving the effectiveness of group communications, the participation of the work groups involved is critical.

3. Resistance to Change

Change is the fly in the bureaucratic ointment. The bureaucratic profusion of hierarchical layers and formal procedures is exactly the opposite of the organic structure proposed by many researchers as the most conducive to making successful changes and innovations [Ref. 10:p. 400]. The bureaucratic organization is structured to ensure predictability and reduce uncertainty. This results in inertia and resistance to anything that may upset the order of things. Individuals in the organization may resist change out of a fear of the unknown. They fear what their roles in the new system might entail, or are anxious because they lack the skills required to perform their tasks in it. The role of management, particularly middle management, is critical in overcoming this resistance. Management techniques that are the most effective in the long run are those that include the involvement and participation of group members. [Refs. 10:pp. 358-59, 12:pp. 343-45]

Information concerning the DDN should be disseminated early to facilitate the systematic participation by key management and non-management personnel during system implementation. Several factors are known to have a positive effect on the implementation of new technology: (1) concrete and on-going training, (2) availability of

"on-call" practical advice, (3) observation of the implementation in other organizations, and (4) regular meetings of all players to discuss problems [Ref. 26]. These factors can be used to excellent advantage to assure system acceptance by the elements of the organization that are most affected by the new technology.

C. ELEMENTS AFFECTED BY NEW TECHNOLOGY

1. Development of Skills

When a new system is installed, the first area to be impacted is that of the skill level and expertise of the workforce. New technology implies new things to learn. This underscores the need for a comprehensive, systematic training program. At the most basic level, the Naval Telecommunications Office provides publications relating to the DDN. A structured course, available on videotape, is offered through the Program Management Office of the DCA. [Ref. 27]

Providing training at a DDN site is complicated by the varying levels of computer expertise among potential users. These levels can run the gamut from novice to expert. For the novice, training must be conducted in a manner that will alleviate the very real problem of computer anxiety, brought on by a lack of understanding of how the system works, and what must be done to use it. Training geared to the experienced user often takes for granted a certain level of skill, intuition, and information that is lacking in the novice. The thrust of the training is to transform technical illiteracy to a working technical proficiency. [Ref. 28:p. 475]

Some points developed in recent research on learning are relevant to DDN training. Technical learning increases when the learner has a meaningful mental model of what is to be learned, and when the new material is actively processed during the learning phase. An important distinction is made between rote and meaningful learning. Material learned by rote simply exists in memory as isolated units of information, with little or no connection to existing knowledge patterns stored in long term memory. Meaningful learning implies understanding, which allows the transfer of learned knowledge to new situations. The learner must have some type of conceptual framework available during the process in order to assimilate the new material. This framework acts as an organizer for incorporating the material into the learner's existing knowledge. This concept was shown to be most effective in applications where the learner possessed little a priori expertise, and when previous knowledge was transferred to new situations, as would be the case at a new DDN site. [Ref. 29]

2. Organizational Rules and Procedures

A procedure is "a detailed set of instructions for performing a sequence of actions that occurs often or regularly" [Ref. 10:p. 91]. Procedures are formal controls imposed to coordinate action and reduce uncertainty. In a military environment, these are called standard operating procedures. A problem arises, when dealing with a new technology, that what worked before may not be applicable to the future.

Reliance on rules and procedures is the simplest and cheapest means to effect coordination [Ref. 10:p. 269]. However, rules and procedures are inflexible, as they relate to the processing of information. Sociotechnical intervention stresses minimization of detailed specifications, in order to maximize individual user contributions [Ref. 9:p. 17]. To an extent, rules and procedures are necessary in an organization. The most effective procedures are usually determined by including the inputs from users.

A reliance on standardized procedures may not be the best tactic at the work site utilizing the DDN. The more complex the technology employed in an organization, the greater the level of task interdependencies. Each area of the organization depends on the production of other areas in turn to produce its outputs. This necessitates a decentralized communication structure to handle the amount of communication that must occur horizontally through the organization simply to get the job done. The creation of lateral relations, as previously stated, is an effective way to process this information. In traditional studies, this method is considered costly. However, the extended electronic communications capabilities of the DDN result in the establishment of direct cross boundary communication. This linkage between users provides an opportunity to communicate about the best means of implementing the technology. [Ref. 20:pp. 24-31]

An appropriate area for procedural standardization at a DDN site is the format of electronic communications. The emphasis is not on what is said, but rather on how it is said. Communication is often an unstructured activity, and the formatting of an unstructured activity into an electronic medium can be difficult. When communication is carried out without visual and aural cues, it is difficult to resolve ambiguities and clarify nuances in meaning. A message must be sent correctly the first time to maximize the benefits of automation. Rules of good writing apply in any environment, but their importance is magnified in an automated one. Appropriate rules for DDN communications include:

- 1. Think before you write and know exactly what you want to say.
- 2. Consider who your readers are and what they want and need to know.
- 3. Write only what needs to be said, nothing more.
- 4. Write everything that needs to be said, nothing less.
- 5. Keep sentences under control: short, simple, direct.
- 6. Use words common to all readers; avoid jargon and alphabet soup acronyms.
- 7. Carefully weigh the advisability of using emotionally loaded phrases.
- S. If a message is important or complicated, get a proofreader. Ask that person for comments, and if the message has come across as intended.
- 9. Reread what you have written with an eye not only for errors, but with thought for the impression it will make and the reaction it will elicit.
- 10. When these steps are accomplished, send it out. [Ref. 30]

3. Organizational Structure

The introduction of computer-mediated communication on a scale as large as that contemplated for the DDN can drastically affect an organization's structure, often in ways unforeseen by strategic planners. Change and uncertainty result in the emergence of networks within an organization, as people try to deal with change. Communication within and between these networks leads to a change in organizational structure from a vertical hierarchy to a broader, more horizontal arrangement. [Ref. 31]

The full impact of introducing the destabilizing effects of a computer communications system such as the DDN on the traditional, vertical hierarchy of military bureaucracies is still to be determined. Researchers have noted the following structural changes occuring in organizations that implement an electronic communications system:

- De-emphasis on the geographic spread of people
- Lack of traditional authority power lines as information becomes accessible to more personnel
- Flattening of organizational structure as communication with subordinates is streamlined electronically
- Promotion of teamwork as physical isolation is diminished
- Increased pressure on management to act quickly
- Increased quantity and timeliness of information accessible from within or from outside the organization. [Ref. 32]

Contemporary research is just beginning to explore the effects of computer networks on organizations. Kiesler states that:

New technology has three orders of effects. The first is the intended technical effects--the planned improvements in efficiency that justify investments in new technology. The second is the transient effects--the very important organizational adjustments made when a technology is introduced but that eventually disappear. The third is the unintended social effects--the permanent changes in the way social and work activities are organized. [Ref. 33:p. 46]

The planned enhancements in information processing through use of the DDN can readily be identified. Computer-mediated communication is unparalleled in terms of speed, time, and the ability to reach a broad audience, particularly when the interoperability aspects of the DDN are considered. Even the transitory effects can be largely anticipated. Such things as the learning curve for people working with new systems, resistance to change, and worker anxiety invariably result when new technology is introduced, and can be anticipated. It is the unintended effects of change that can have the greatest impact on the structure of the organization. Little is known about such side effects, and how to deal with them.

Electronic communication allows people in groups, whether formal or informal, to interact about common interests or problems. The scope of the DDN removes the constraints of geography; users can communicate virtually worldwide. This union of people sharing the same interests and exchanging ideas about shared problems creates, in effect, an electronic quality circle for problem solving. A quality circle is a characteristic of an open, organic organization [Ref. 10:p. 280]. Thus, conflict can arise if the previous structure was tightly controlled and mechanistic, due to the gap between the way management perceives work being done and the way it is actually performed.

Several features of electronic communications are organizationally important. First, the ease and availability of communications encourages teamwork, a foundation for the formation of work groups in a sociotechnical design. Second, message senders and receivers usually process their own communications, without going through an intermediary such as a secretary. This is a large step in breaking down organizational barriers. Third, subordinates can communicate directly with their superiors, essentially democratizing the workplace. In a military context, this implies a potential for circumventing the chain of command. Finally, electronic communications reduce the volume of paper, if not paperwork. Messages and files exist electronically, with no need to make hard copies unless it is desired. This can result in a significant savings in storage space, once personnel adapt to the idea. [Ref. 33:p. 48]

Decision-making policy in a computer-mediated communications environment can encourage more participation from the workforce. Wide information searches are possible, reaching to all areas of the organization and beyond. This allows minority views from geographically distant or structurally separate groups to be obtained. It is possible for all points of view on an issue in the organization to be considered, thereby giving all workers a voice in their own determination. [Ref. 33:p. 58]

The final area of organizational structure to be considered is where the work is performed. It has been demonstrated that computer-mediated communication removes the restriction of geography. Physically distant locations are electronically joined. A logical extension of this is "telecommuting", or the performance of work from the home rather than the office. DDN users can connect to the network from a personal computer (PC) through a TAC. At present, the DDN treats the PC as a terminal, that is, it ignores the computing power of the PC. This is changing. Development is underway on a new DDN access paradigm that will allow PCs to connect directly into the DDN. The user could do almost anything from the PC that could be done from a mainframe. [Ref. 34]

Private industry now is considering the use of computer-mediated communications to create electronic "cottage industries". Studies indicate that the acceptability of the decision to work at home is primarily related to work position and job characteristics. Working at home is favored by those whose jobs require independence and freedom from interruption, such as programmers, and by those who have low social needs from the job. On the other hand, supervisors are more resistant to the idea. In all cases studied, the interest of workers, support by management, and the expectations of both are critical in implementing telecommuting. [Ref. 35]

The implications for management of home-based DDN use are mixed. Advantages include the great potential of reducing transaction costs by allowing transmission during off-peak hours. Telecommuting may find favor at sites such as the Navy Regional Data Centers (NARDAC), where there are a large number of programmers. At such sites, the privelige of t ing able to telecommute could become part of the reward system, something given to the more trusted workers as a means to increase productivity and worker morale.

A disadvantage of telecommuting is that for many workers the important social interaction at the worksite is lost, as a result of the physical isolation of telecommuting. Management must be willing to give up direct-contact supervision, actually trusting people to do their work on their own. Psychological problems may result from breaking

down the distinction between home and work. Nevertheless, telecommuting is a useful alternative to the existing system, under the right working conditions.

4. Organizational Culture

One of the subtlest areas of an organization to be affected by a new technology is the culture. A group's collective beliefs, status differentiations, and power distributions can all be impacted by electronic communications. Nonverbal behaviors such as gestures, tone of voice, and eye contact strongly affect the roles played in face-to-face communication. These are absent in electronic communication. Software is blind with respect to vertical hierarchy. While in verbal communication one individual often dominates due to position, status, or personal charisma, this has not been the case with computer-mediated communications.

Another culture-related factor is that depersonalized messages invite more assertive, less inhibited communications. There is a long history in computer networks of "flaming", that is, expressing oneself more strongly on a computer than would be done in other communications settings. ARPANET has had to screen network bulletin boards for messages of questionable taste [Ref. 36:pp. 1124-28]. This no-holds-barred style of communication provides a wealth of opportunity for the manager at a DDN site. Sampling the attitudes of workers is easier, and there exists the capability to have an honest exchange of ideas, stripped of many of the artifices of convention and status. Anonymous electronic communications can serve as a source for new ideas to improve production, and as an outlet for improving morale.

An organization's communications system serves to implement goals and coordinate and control activities. It can also be a source of power. Personal influence in organizations is a matter of both positional authority and individual skills in comprehending and manipulating organizational processess. Simply put, it is the ability to get things done. One study established that an individual's power is positively related to his ability to access organizational resources such as people and information. [Ref. 37:pp. 3-7]

If information can be regarded as a power resource, then the speed and ease of access to information offered by the DDN could shift the balances of power previously in place at the organization. More people could become privy to the information necessary for decision making, changing status relationships while increasing participation. One of the determinants of power is irreplaceability [Ref. 37:p. 5]. People who can make themselves indispensible in some way gain a certain amount of power. Those who

master the use of the DDN could create powerful niches for themselves. Equally important, those who don't use this medium could lose influence, regardless of their hierarchical position. Management must be aware of and monitor any such fluctuations in the organizational power bases.

Second Second

V. SOCIAL ANALYSIS OF DDN IMPLEMENTATION

The DDN is a computer-mediated communication system that is implemented in a pre-existing military organization. It is important to remember that it is not an end unto itself. That is, the primary function of most users is not just to become experts on the DDN. Rather, the DDN is implemented to enhance the operations of a variaty of organizations. These operations range from the transmission of financial records at Personnel Support Detachments to the sharing of information between scientists at military research centers.

This variety of uses also implies a diversified population of users. It would be difficult, if not impossible, to determine a single set of specific characteristics to apply to the users that would prescribe an optimal means of implementing and utilizing the DDN. Instead, the process of implementing the new technology must be adapted to the unique attributes of each workforce to obtain the best results. This is the goal of sociotechnical design.

In sociotechnical design, the underlying social subsystem of the organization is linked to technology to optimize performance. Sociotechnical theorists have prescribed conditions necessary for this linkage. These conditions evoke and sustain commitment and involvement. They are:

- Autonomy
- Opportunity to learn and continue learning
- Variety
- Opportunity to exchange help and respect
- Sense of meaningful contribution
- Prospect of a meaningful future. [Ref. 9:p. 21]

Thus, the optimal sociotechnical system is a work system in which the jobs provide the opportunity to use a variety of skills, to make decisions, to complete meaningful, whole pieces of work, to know how well one is performing, to interact with others, and to learn [Ref. 38 :p. 28].

A. DATA COLLECTION

1. Procedure

This study attempted to measure the degree to which the conditions for sociotechnical design are present in organizations using the DDN. The primary method for collecting data was a self-administered, closed-end questionnaire using a seven point Likert scale. The respondents answered a question by selecting an ordered number between one and seven that best reflects their estimation of the answer. A response of one represents the strongest disagreement and seven the strongest agreement. In addition, the questionnaire included several open-ended questions to elicit respondent's greatest likes and dislikes concerning the DDN. The study also sought to determine the level of awareness of the respondents about the DDN, and the level of their use of it. Appendix B contains a sample questionnaire.

The questions were designed to reflect, from a user's perspective, the presence of the sociotechnical conditions in the organization. The questions were divided into those relating specifically to the DDN, and those focusing on the respondent's overall functions in the organization. This was done in order to give due consideration to the dependent role of the DDN within the larger context of the organization's concept of operations.

The questionnaire can be broken down into several areas of concentration. These reflect the six previously-listed sociotechnical conditions that are theorized necessary for optimal performance, as well as other information. The additional areas are:

- Experience with computers and or the DDN
- Comfort with using the DDN
- Likes and dislikes about the DDN.

2. Data Analysis

The data collected from the questionnaires were analyzed in three ways. First, the responses from all three groups were reported according to the percentages that fell under each of five Likert scale categories (original response values of 2 and 3 were combined, as were response values of 5 and 6, to facilitate the reporting of results.) This was done in order to show the full spread of the responses, and to avoid any misrepresentation of the data that might occur from depicting only some aggregated presentation of the data. Second, the means and standard deviations of the responses were calculated. This was done to show an average response to each question from each of the three

groups, and to present the associated variability with respect to each mean. Third, correlation analysis was performed with respect to each question and all the other questions. This was done to show the relationships between the responses to different questions, and as a preliminary step for performing regression analysis.

Correlation produces a number between -1 and 1, called the correlation coefficient, that gives an indication of the amount and direction of association between the responses to any two selected questions. For example, a correlation coefficient of near 1 indicates a high level of correlation between the two responses. A value near -1 indicates a negative correlation. Values near 0 indicate little or no correlation. Such correlations can be used to derive an estimate of the extent to which the response to one question can be used to predict the response to another. The procedure for deriving such predictive values is regression analysis. When regression analysis is used to compare the response to question A with the responses to one or more other questions, the procedure yields a coefficient of determination, which is the square of the correlation coefficient (R^2) between A and the other questions. The value of R^2 indicates the percentage of the variation of A that can be explained by the other questions. Table 1 gives guidelines for interpreting the size of R^2 .

An accepted convention is to present all statistics in terms of how much confidence the observer can place in the number calculated. This study used the student's t-test to determine a confidence level for each calculation. For example, a 95% confidence level means that the observer can be 95% certain that the calculation is statistically significant. [Ref. 39]

R^2	Interpretation
0	No Correlation
025	Weak Correlation
.2564	Medium Correlation
.64-1.0	Strong Correlation
1.0	Perfect Correlation

Table 1. CORRELATION COEFFICIENT	. C	CORREL	ATION	COEFFI	CIENT	VALUES
----------------------------------	-----	--------	-------	--------	-------	--------

2 [<u>17777555</u>] 83**33335** [KS

3. Development and Use of Performance Measures

Management personnel in an organization presumably invest in a new technology because the new technology is superior to an existing system. Some form of measurement should be established to evaluate this superiority; that is, measures of performance are needed. This study makes use of two DDN-related measures of performance.

(a) A measure of DDN superiority over other means of communication was obtained by determining the extent to which the use of the DDN reduces the use of other media.

(b) A measure of DDN effectiveness was obtained by determining the extent to which the DDN has improved work performance.

Regression analysis was used to examine what conditions, represented by questionnaire items, could be used to predict high performance measures.

4. Study Participants

The DDN consists of thousands of subscribers, and tens of thousands of potential users. Three groups were selected as approximately representative of the potential user population, within workable limits. All respondents worked at a military site that has access to the DDN.

The first group consisted of scientists and engineers at the Naval Weapons Center at China Lake, CA. This group was chosen to represent research-oriented DDN users. The second group was a sample of students at the Naval Postgraduate School in Monterey, CA. The students were chosen to represent the general military population that is newly exposed to the DDN. The third group was made up of operational users, selected from the United States Army Information Systems Center at the Presidio of San Francisco, CA, and the DCA at Wheeler Air Force Base, Oahu, HI. This sample was chosen to represent DDN users in an operational military environment. The 90 participants were randomly selected from these three sites. The sample sizes were 47 in group one (research), 21 in group two (student), and 22 in group three (operational).

5. Study Limitations

To keep this study within reasonable limits, several restrictions were necessary. These resulted in certain weaknesses in the study, including:

- The number of participants in the study is small relative to the total number of DDN users and potential users.
- The degree to which the three groups selected are representative of all organizations using the DDN is unknown.

- RECEIPT DESCENT STATES
- The use of a prestructured questionnaire limits the areas in which a respondent can reply. Significant data could be missed because there is no place on the questionnaire to include it.
- The questionnaire is geared to those who use the DDN. No allowance is made for determining the reasons that non-users fail to utilize the DDN.
- The data collected are of an ordinal, rather than interval, type. Statistical analysis was performed in accordance with general accepted practice, as described in Ref. 40.

In spite of these methodological weaknesses, the lack of previous empirical research in this area justifies the exploratory approach taken in this study.

B. RESULTS

1. User Experience

Variables related to the participants' previous experience include (1) experience with DDN, (2) experience with computers in general, and (3) the amount of the job accomplished using the DDN. The results are shown in Table 2 below. In the research group, 77° , of the respondents did not use the DDN. The other two groups were composed entirely of personnel who use, or had been exposed to, the DDN. The research group had a mean of 6.5 years of computer experience, and 3.1 years of DDN experience. The student group had a mean of 3.1 years computer experience, and 0.6 years DDN experience. The operational group had a mean of 12.6 years computer experience, and 3.1 years of DDN experience. The percentage of the job accomplished for each sample is displayed in Figure 6 on page 38. The overwhelming majority of respondents in all samples use the DDN for less than 10% of their jobs.

L'anishia	Group						
v ariable	Research	Student	Operational				
Use DDN, %	23% 9	100%6	100% o				
Computer experience, years	6.5	3.1	12.6				
DDN experience, years	3.1	0.6	3.1				

Table 2. PARTICIPANT EXPERIENCE LEVELS

2. User Learning

Two multiple-response questions dealt with learning to use the DDN. The results are given in Table 3 on page 39. In question 6 (see Appendix B), respondents were asked if instructional materials for the DDN are easy to read and understand. The



Figure 6. Percentage of Job Involving DDN Use

largest response for the research group, 55%, was in the undecided category. The student group had the largest percentage, 53%, of all three groups to report positively. The operational group had 37% undecided, as well as 45% who thought instructional materials were not understandable.

In question 4, participants were asked if they had received enough training to use the DDN well. Of the research group, 46% reported they had not, 27% were undecided, and 27% reported that they had. Of the student group, 62% reported that they had adequate training; only 19% said training was inadequate. The operational group tallied 64% with enough training, and 18% each undecided and reporting not enough training.

~ <u>9</u> 8	
38	
5/	
- 22	
33	
5	
Reg	
$\overline{\mathcal{N}}$	
\sim	
25	
\mathcal{N}	
N	
\mathbf{S}	
~ 3	
2	
- N	
\sim	
- L.	
- Ŀ-	
- 3	
201	
2	
<u></u>	

Question	Group	Strong Disa- gree	Disa- gree	Un- de- cided	Agree	Strong Agree
	Research	0	27	55	18	Ó
Instructional ma-	Student	()	24	24	47	5
i criais are cicar	Operational	27	18	37	18	0
Training is ade- quate to use DDN	Research	19	27	27	27	0
	Student	0	19	19	52	10
weil	Operational	9	9	18	27	37

Table 3. EVALUATION OF DDN TRAINING (IN PERCENTAGES)

In questions 15 and 16, the respondents were asked to rank the training methods that had the greatest impact on their learning how to use the DDN. In question 16, they were asked to rank what would be the most useful methods for improving their DDN skills, if they had the choice. Six options were presented. They are:

- On the job training (OJT)
- Formal classroom training
- Supervisorial instruction
- Standard operating procedures (SOP)
- Self taught
- Coworker instruction

Results for the three groups are tabulated and presented in Figure 7 on page 40. The research group reported OJT, self teaching, and coworkers both as the methods with which they learned to use the DDN and as the methods favored for improving skills. The students, all of whom had a formal class on the DDN, ranked self teaching and formal classroom as most important in learning to use the DDN; OJT, formal classes, and SOPs were listed as the most desirable means of improving their skills. The operational group reported that OJT, self-teaching, SOPs, and coworkers had the greatest impact on learning, and favored OJT, formal classes, and SOPs for improving their skills.



Figure 7. Training Used and Training Desired for the DDN

3. Meaningful Contribution of the DDN

Two questions were included to assess the extent to which DDN use makes a meaningful contribution to the respondent's job. Results are provided in Table 4 on page 41.

Question 2 asked if using the DDN reduced the usage of other communications media. In both the research and operator groups, $64^{\circ}b$ said that it did, while $36^{\circ}b$ and $2^{-\circ}b$, respectively, said that it did not. One of the operators who strongly disagreed said that management severely restricted electronic communication because they considered anything in writing to be official correspondence. Of the students, $38^{\circ}b$ said that using the DDN reduced usage of other media. Another $38^{\circ}b$ were undecided, possibly because this group has had little need to use the DDN outside a classroom.

Question 3 asked if using the DDN had improved work performance, a direct inquiry into the intended technical benefits of implementing the DDN. Positive responses were given by 46% of the research group, 55% of the operational group, and 28% of the student group. Large percentages (36%, 27%, and 48%, respectively) were undecided. Over 70% of all respondents with more than two years of DDN experience felt that it improved their performance. The majority of the undecided and negative responses came from respondents with less than two years of experience with the DDN.

Question	Group	Strong Disa- gree	Disa- gree	Un- de- cided	Agree	Strong Agree
	Research	27	9	0	28	36
other media	Student	5	19	38	35	0
	Operational	9	18	9	37	25
DDN use im- proves work per-	Research	18	0	36	37	9
	Student	10	14	48	28	0
formance	Operational	9	9	27	46	9

 Table 4. MEANINGFUL CONTRIBUTION OF THE DDN (IN PERCENT-AGES)

4. Comfort With DDN

Question 5 dealt with the overall comfort respondents felt with using the DDN. The responses are provided in Table 5 on page 42. Comfort was selected as a general term that covers conditions such as system-induced stress and computer anxiety. The research group gave mixed responses: 36% were uncomfortable with the DDN, 37% were undecided, and 27% felt at ease with the system. Among the students, many of whom are novice users, 85% were comfortable with the system. The operational group exhibited a large "comfort factor", with 27% comfortable and 64% strongly comfortable with using the DDN.

Question	Sample	Strong Disa- gree	Disa- gree	Un- de- cided	Agree	Strong Agree
Comfort With Use	Research	9	27	37	27	0
	Student	0	5	10	71	1-1
	Operational	Ŏ	Ó	9	27	64

Table 5. COMFORTABLE WITH USING DDN (IN PERCENTAGES)

5. Meaningful Job Future

Two questionnaire items were employed to gauge the respondents' perceptions of the relationship between their current positions and the prospects of a meaningful future. These are presented in Table 6.

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			,
Question	Group	Strong Disa- gree	Disa- gree	Un- de- cided	.4gree	Strong Agree
	Research	27	46	27	0	0
Rewarded for DDN skills	Student	10	14	52	19	5
	Operational	18	27	18	27	10
	Research	0	0	0	55	45
Job aligned with	Student	0	0	5	38	57
	Operational	9	18	Ó	46	27

 Table 6.
 MEANINGFUL JOB FUTURE FOR USERS (IN PERCENTAGES)

Question 7 asked respondents to evaluate the extent to which they were rewarded for acquiring skills for use on the DDN. Researchers from Pavlov to Skinner have documented the importance of rewards to elicit desired behaviour. Of the research group, 73° , said they were not rewarded for their DDN skills. The students reported 24° , not rewarded, 52° , undecided, and 24° , rewarded. Results from the operational group were

divided: 45% felt they were not rewarded, 18% were undecided, and 37% felt they were rewarded. Several of the operators commented that the rewards they received were of personal satisfaction, explicitly stating that they received nothing from management.

Question 14 was geared to the respondent's overall job in the organization. It asked respondents to assess whether or not their current position was in line with their career aspirations. The research group unanimously said it was: 95% of the student group and 74% of the operational group reported that their positions were on track with their career goals.

6. Job Autonomy

Three questions asked respondents to evaluate the level of autonomy they felt they had in performing their roles in the organization. The responses for these questions are tabulated in Table 7. Question 10 asked respondents to specify the degree to which to which they were self-regulated in accomplishing tasks. Of the research and operational groups, 100% said they were self-regulated, 55% strongly so. Among the students, 90% said they were self-regulated.

Question	Group	Strong Disa- gree	Disa- gree	Un- de- cided	Agree	Strong Agree
	Research	0	0	θ	45	55
Self regulated	Student	0	0	10	61	_29
	Operational	9	0	0	36	55
	Research	0	18	46	27	9
Prefer to exercise	Student	5	0	14	62	20
more judgement	Operational		$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	27	46	
	Research	0	0	- Ó	55	45
Know responsibil-	Student	0	5	14	43	38
1005	Operational	0	()	27	27	46

 Table 7. JOB AUTONOMY FOR USERS (IN PERCENTAGES)

Question 11 asked the respondents if exercising more of their own judgment would improve the quality of their work. Of the research group, 36% said it would, while 46% were undecided. Among the student group, 91% said more personal judgment would improve the quality of their work, and 73% of the operators said it would. There was some ambiguity in the interpretation of the question. Comments from respondents answering positively included: "It does", indicating that the respondent did exercise a great deal of personal judgment, and "I wish I could", indicating an inability to do so. The numerical values of the responses for this question are probably only valid as a measure of a condition that the respondents like, not as an indicator of whether or not the condition exists at the work place.

Question 8 provides a measure of the degree to which respondents are aware of what they are responsible for with respect to their jobs. Of the research group 100% said they knew all their responsibilities; 82% of the students and 91% of the operators indicated an awareness of their responsibilities.

7. Task Variety

The existence of task variety was explored through two questions, as shown in Table 8. Question 12 asked respondents if they considered their jobs to be routine. The majority of all responses were negative. In the research group, 91% said that their jobs were not routine, 27% strongly so. For the students, 62% responded negatively. The operators had an 82% negative response, with 36% strongly asserting that their jobs were not routine.

Question	Group	Strong Disa- gree	Disa- gree	Un- de- cided	Agree	Strong Agree
Job is routine	Research	27	64	9	0	Ģ
	Student	19	43	14	19	5
	Operational	36	46	0	18	0
	Research	0	Ó	0	18	82
Multiple skills are	Student	0	0	0	62	38
needed	Operational	0	0	0	27	73

 Table 8.
 TASK VARIETY (IN PERCENTAGES)

Question 13 asked if knowing multiple skills were a part of the job. As might be anticipated from the non-routine nature of the jobs indicated in the responses to the first question, all three groups had a positive reaction to this question. This was the only survey question that received unanimous agreement. All three groups said that their jobs required multiple skills, with 82% of the research group, 38% of the students, and 73% of the operational group strongly affirming this.

8. Exchange With Others

One question dealt with exchange between workers, to determine the extent to which groups are formed and used in the organization, as shown in Table 9 on page 45. Question 9 asked respondents if problems in their organizations were solved by group effort. This question drew a mixed response from all three groups. In the research group, 73° , reported that problems were solved jointly, but only 9° , strongly felt this was the case. Of the student group, 53° , answered positively, 19° , were undecided, and 28° , responded negatively. For the operators, 55° , said they had group problem solving, 27° , were undecided, and 18° , said they did not.

Question	Group	Strong Disa- gree	Disa- gree	Un- de- cided	.Agree	Strong Agree
Problems solved	Research	0	9	18	64	9
	Student	5	23	19	43	10
oy groups	Operational	9	9	27	37	18

 Table 9.
 GROUP EXCHANGE (IN PERCENTAGES)

9. Positive Aspects of the DDN

The questionnaire contained two open-ended questions. Question 18 asked the respondents what they liked most about the DDN. For scientists and engineers, the greatest perceived asset was the electronic mail feature of the DDN. Half of the respondents listed this as what they liked best. The next greatest attraction was the speed of the network. One respondent commented favorably on the speed of the DDN as compared to the Naval message system, and noted that it helped alleviate busy AUTOVON lines. Along that line, eliminating "phone tag" was mentioned as a boon. Another respondent liked the fact that information could be dealt with at one's convenience, not in the forced immediacy of a phone conversation. Finally, the broad access to diverse data sources, such as directories and distant supercomputers, was rated highly.

The student group touted the distributed aspect of the DDN as its most positive aspect. As one respondent stated, the best part is ". . . the relative ease of communicating with the world." The next most popular feature of the network was electronic mail, and the speed with which it allowed communication to occur. Several students

considered the file transfer capabilities to be the top characteristic. The reliability of transmissions rounded out the slate of student favorites.

Members of the operational group reported world-wide connectivity as the single greatest feature of the DDN. The second most popular aspect was the high speed of communicating, though one respondent specified that this speed was contingent on usage during non-peak hours. Electronic mail and the transfer and maintenance of files were also mentioned by several respondents as the top features of the DDN. Finally, one operator considered the DDN's security features to be its best aspect.

10. Negative Aspects of the DDN

The second open-ended question, question 17, asked respondents what they disliked most about the DDN. Members of the research group had no clear consensus of dislikes. Several respondents commented on the difficult or cumbersome procedures required to access the DDN. This, as one respondent pointed out, is not a problem with the backbone DDN, but rather a function of the software utilized at the individual site. One person described this as "being at the mercy of vendor-X operating system." One respondent said that documentation is not readily available. Another criticized the lack of secure lines. Two commented on the slow response time during peak hours. The difficulty in obtaining passwords for remote accessing also drew the criticism of one respondent.

The biggest drawback of the DDN for the student group was the slow response time during periods of peak usage. The next biggest complaint was against the word processing system installed at the local site. Several respondents cited the lack of a more visually-oriented system as a detriment, specifically advocating a menu-driven system. Similarly, one respondent disliked the on-line help function, saying that it was difficult to determine where in the system you were in order to get help. Several of the respondents criticized the written documentation, citing a lack of readable, comprehensive text.

The operational group registered a variety of complaints. Several respondents disliked the lack of standards for transmission format and sequence. These were too dependent upon the varied group of diverse vendors who make the host computers. Training was regarded as inadequate for a novice computer user, and not implemented on a wide enough basis. Two respondents said that the long lead time required to install the DDN was a detriment. The high cost, approximately \$25,000, for local site hardware and software was another dislike. The local site word processing software and slow

response times were also cited here as negative features. Finally, management and administration of the DDN at the organization were criticized as being disorganized. One respondent stated that no one had the authority to get anything done without weeks of delay.

5555222 [SCHERES

11. Statistical Inference

The sample means and standard deviations for the questionnaire are presented in Table 10.

Question	Rese	arch	Stu	dent	Opera	tional
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Materials are clear	3.8	0.9	4.6	1.2	3.3	1.6
Training adequate	3.6	1.8	4.8	1.3	5.1	2.1
Reduces media	4.4	2.5	4.0	1.2	4.9	2.1
Improves performance	4.3	1.9	3.8	1.3	4.4	1.7
Comfort with use	3.9	1.6	5.4	1.0	6.1	1.1
Reward for Skills	2.5	1.2	3.9	1.3	3.7	1.9
Career Goals	6.1	0.8	6.4	0.8	5.0	2.0
Seif Regulated	6.4	0.6	5.8	0.9	5.8	1.7
More Judgement	4.3	1.5	5.6	1.4	5.8	1.2
Know Responsibilities	6.4	0.5	5.7	1.3	6.2	1.2
Routine Job	2.1	0,9	3,0	1.7	2.4	1.4
Multiple Skills	6.8	0.4	6.1	0.7	6.4	0.9
Group Effort	5.0	1.3	4.4	1.5	4.5	1.8

Table 10. SAMPLE MEANS AND STANDARD DEVIATIONS

All means were tested to the 95% confidence level against the null hypothesis that the mean was equal to the "undecided" value, that is, 4. This was done using the student's t-distribution test. On the average, the research group reported that members were autonomous, had task variety, felt their jobs were in line with their career goals, and had exchange in solving problems. They did not feel they were rewarded for their skills in using the DDN. The student group felt that members exhibited autonomy, had task variety, and considered their jobs in line with their career goals. The operational group also reported autonomy, were comfortable with using the DDN, and had task variety. They also felt that instructional materials were not easy to understand. Resulting means

for the remaining questions for all three groups were not statistically different from the value representing an undecided response.

The next step in the analysis was to examine the relationships between the variables included in the questionnaire. This was done through zero-order correlations. These correlations give an idea of the extent of the relationships between the variables, a higher value indicating a greater relationship. These higher values are used as the basis to determine which questions should be used for regression analysis.

The measures of performances hypothesized to be of interest to management-the extent to which use of the DDN reduces use of other media and the extent to which DDN use improves work performance--were used as the dependent variables in the regression analysis. They were regressed on those questions with which they had the strangest correlation coefficients. Each resulting R^2 value denotes the percentage of the variability of the performance measure that is explained by the question on which it was regressed. The results are given in Table 11 on page 49.

The first variable regressed was the impact of the DDN in reducing the use of other media. The research group showed medium correlation between this factor and the factor of having enough training to use the DDN well. The resulting R^2 was 56%; this was significant only at an 80% confidence level. The low significance value was probably due to the large standard deviation (2.5) of the variable mean value for this group. The student group showed a strong negative correlation between use of the DDN and the routine nature of tasks. That is, the less routine the tasks are, the more the DDN was used instead of other media. Regression analysis produced an R^2 of 46.9°_{0} , significant at a 99% confidence level. The operational group showed strong correlation between DDN use and being rewarded for DDN skills. The R^2 for this was 58.7°_{0} at a 99% confidence level.

The next variable regressed was the impact of the DDN on improving work performance. The research group showed strong correlation between this factor and having enough training to use the DDN well. Training accounted for 46% of the variation, although this was significant only at an 80% confidence level for this group. The student group did not show any strong correlations between improved performance and the other questions. This is probably not a good measure for this group because the students have not had much reason to use the DDN for other than coursework. A possible substitute variable for use in estimating how effective they feel they are with the DDN is the question asking how comfortable they feel using the DDN. The response to this question showed medium correlation between comfort and having enough training to use the DDN well. Regression analysis gave an R^2 of 28% at a 99% confidence level. The operational group showed strong correlation between improved performance and both having enough training and being rewarded for DDN skills. The R^2 for these two questions explained 79.2% of the variation, at a 90% confidence level.

Measure of Performance	Group	Question	Corr. Coef.	R: 1.5
	Research	Enough training to use DDN	0.462	55.6
Reduced use of other me- dia	Student	Job is routine	-0.685	46.9
Giù	Opera- tional	Rewarded for DDN skills	0.766	58.7
	Research	Enough training to use DDN	0.681	46
Improves work perform-	Student	Enough training to use DDN	0.530	28
ance	Opera- Er	Enough training to use DDN	0.715	79.2
	uonal	Rewarded for DDN skills	0,766	

Table 11.	RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN	PERFORMANCE	MEASURES	AND
	SELECTED QUESTIONS			

C. SUMMARY

The results of the questionnaire indicate that DDN users, as exemplified by the three groups, vary widely in experience, position, and purpose for using the system. None the less, they share several traits in common. The majority of the users utilize the DDN to perform less than 10% of their jobs. The users have a strong sense of autonomy, both as a job characteristic and as a desired condition. Their jobs are not routine, and require multiple skills to perform. These traits can be indicative of workers with a high degree of responsibility and pride in their work [Ref. 14:pp. 49-51]. To a large extent, respondents feel that their jobs are in line with their career aspirations, contributing to a sense of a meaningful future.

How much individuals learn about the DDN varies from organization to organization. The majority of personnel queried at the Naval Weapons Center do not use the DDN, and those who do use it learned to do so on the job. Formal classroom is used as an instructional method for only one of the groups. The student group considered

such training effective and also beneficial for further learning. The operational group, which also primarily learned to use the DDN on the job, reported that formal training would be a good means of improving expertise with the system. Instructional materials on the DDN were not widely perceived to be easy to read or understand. Over one-third of the members of each group do not feel they have enough training to use the DDN well.

The research group does not feel comfortable with using the DDN, while both the student and operational groups do. Very few of the respondents from any of the groups felt that the organization rewarded them for their DDN skills.

Electronic mail, speed of communication, file transfer and maintenance, and worldwide connectivity were favored as the most positive aspects of the DDN. On the downside, cumbersome local operating systems (especially word processing software) were perceived as problems. Slow response time during peak hours, dependence on diverse vendors, poor documentation and on-line help features, and training in general were all considered negative aspects of the DDN as it is implemented at the organization.

Results of responses to questions related to the measures of performance proposed here for potential use by management vary widely among the three groups. Two-thirds of the research and operational groups reported that using the DDN reduces their use of other communication media. However, one-third of each group did not feel that it did. The student group was about evenly split between thinking that it did, undecided, and thinking it did not. A large proportion of the research and operational groups reported that using the DDN improved their work performance (46% and 55%, respectively). However, when those who were undecided are grouped together with those who did not think that their performance was improved by using the DDN, over half of the research group and nearly that many of the operational group fall in this category, along with an even higher proportion of the student group.

Several factors appear to be strong predictors of the two selected measures of performance. The strongest predictor for both measures is having adequate training. The next strongest predictor is being rewarded for DDN skills. In addition, the extent to which tasks are not considered routine has a predictive value for determining how much the use of other communication media is supplanted by DDN use.

A. CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this study has been to examine the application of the principles of sociotechnical theory to the implementation and administration of the DDN in military organizations. This was done by assessing to what extent six major sociotechnical conditions (autonomy, learning, variety, group exchange, meaningful job contributions, and a meaningful future) are present in military organizations with access to the DDN. During the course of this study several issues became apparent that are of critical interest to management for the successful introduction of the DDN into an organization.

1. Presence of Sociotechnical Conditions

Based on the results of this study, it may be concluded that DDN users are strongly autonomous, and have jobs that incorporate a great deal of variety. These jobs for the most part are on track with the users' career goals. However, users are not rewarded for their DDN skills. For many of the users, the DDN makes a meaningful contribution to their job, but a sizable number do not perceive it as reducing their use of other communication media or improving their work performance. Exchange with others occurs in problem solving and training, but not to a high degree. The methods used to facilitate the learning process have weaknesses that alienate some of the users. Thus, it can be concluded that two of the sociotechnical conditions (autonomy and variety) are strongly present. The other four are also present, but in varying degrees.

2. Issues for Managerial Concern

Three issues warrant further managerial attention. The first is that of training. Adequate training, based on the groups studied, is for the most part not being provided. Over one-third of those queried said that they did not have enough training to use the system well. This indicates a problem. It could be the result of several things: (1) documentation is considered poor, (2) there is no formal classroom training, and (3) there is not enough regard for the novice computer user. A program that addresses these shortcomings is needed. The close association of training to the studied measures of performance underscores its importance to the health of the organization.

The second issue of importance to management is the reward system. Employees in any organization are quick to determine what behaviors and skills are beneficial to their careers. If management wants a workforce proficient in using the DDN, then those skills must be encouraged by rewarding them. As the study found, there is a strong connection between rewards and improved performance. However, giving rewards for DDN skills does not appear to be a policy in the groups studied. In the DOD, rewards cannot be in the form of additional pay. Despite this, there is considerable latitude for recognizing and supporting superior performance in using the DDN. Management should re-examine this apparent discrepancy between the performance that is desired and the means used to reach this end.

The third important issue is the form and efficiency of DDN management. Managerial practices at a DDN site largely determine the acceptance of a system, what it is used for, and who has access to it. All of these were found to be important in computer-mediated communications systems. In the groups surveyed, the majority of things liked about the DDN, such as speed of communication, connectivity, and data access, are inherent results of data network technology, and are obtained simply by installing the system. On the other hand, the majority of things disliked about the DDN, such as training, local operating systems, and slow response time during peak hours, are factors directly controllable by management. Management at each site must set policies that help, not hinder, better performance with the DDN.

B. RECOMMENDATIONS

Three major organizational changes can be recommended as a result of this study. First, self-managed work teams should be considered for the facilitation of better training, reward systems, and a management structure that is well tailored to the conditions that exist at the individual DDN site. Based on the groups queried, three of the four principles considered necessary in Reference 9 are already present among DDN users. These are (1) specific responsibilities, (2) self-regulation, and (3) jobs requiring multiple skills. The one that appears to be lacking, skill-based rewards, could be the focus of a self-managed work team.

Second, team-building activities are needed to create the participative, decentralized form of organizational structure that is widely endorsed for improving performance, especially in a dynamic environment. Computer-mediated communication encourages decentralized flow of information and ease of establishing communication; these foster effective group performance. This potential for improved performance should be realized through the use of established team-building techniques.

Third, participative management should be encouraged. Participation, besides giving workers an input in their own destiny, also creates a greater sense of involvement and commitment. It has been shown to be a facilitating factor in motivation and the reduction of boredom on the job [Ref. 41]. The autonomous nature of each working group, already shown to be a major attribute in the groups sampled, can result in unique group needs that cannot be foreseen by upper management. However, group members can provide solutions to many of their own and the organization's problems, given the opportunity. These solutions can be responsive to the needs of both the organization and the workers. For example, the problem of high cost and slow response time during peak hours could be mitigated by the use of flextime or telecommuting, solutions that might not be practical for the organization as a whole, but ideal for a small group. The central thrust of the team concept is that the teams can be well suited for determining effective methods for implementing the DDN in the organization.

Electronic communications open a door to new possibilities for fast, reliable, world-wide communication. Enlightened management can encourage the attainment of the full benefits of this system. The decentralized, evolutionary nature of computermediated communications make it a perfect area for applying the principles of sociotechnical design. Many of the key conditions are already present in the organizations using the DDN. The final step is for management to implement the DDN under the work team concept.

C. SUGGESTED FURTHER RESEARCH

Several topics related to this study warrant further research. First, research is needed to determine why some employees who have access to the DDN still do not use it. Such research would provide valuable insight into the type of training and programs that would overcome barriers to the use of computer communications. This research could be done through on-site interviews at various $o_{i,p}$ anizations which have DDN access.

Second, potential costing plans for DDN usage should be investigated. This would include the cost and relative effectiveness of local site hardware and software, along with transaction costs. This research could include a cost benefit analysis of DDN use versus the use of other media.

A third area recommended for research is a comparison of the organizational structure at DDN sites that seem to be successfully implementing the system with those that appear not to be doing well. The results of this study would be of interest to the many organizations who will become DDN sites in the near future.

APPENDIX A. GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS

AHIP	ARPANET Host Interface Protocol		
ARPANET	Advanced Research Project Agency Network		
BBN	Bolt, Beranek, and Newman		
DARPA	Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency		
DCA	Defense Communications Agency		
DDN	Defense Data Network		
DOD	Department of Defense		
DSNET	Defense Secure Network		
DTE	Data Terminal Equipment		
FTP	File Transfer Protocol		
GENSER	General Service		
lP	Internet Protocol		
ISO	International Standards Organization		
MILNET	Military Network		
NARDAC	Navy Regional Data Center		

NIC	Network Information Center		
TLO	On the Job Training		
O\$1	Open Systems Interconnection		
PC	Personal Computer		
PSN	Packet Switching Node		
SCINET	Sensitive Compartmented Information Network		
SMPT	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol		
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure		
TAC	Terminal Access Controller		
ТСР	Transfer Control Protocol		
TELNET	Telecommunications Network		
WINCS	WWMCCS Information Network Communication Subsystem		
WWMCCS	World Wide Military Command and Control System		

ዿጜዸጞቔዀዄዀዸጞኯጞኯዸዀዸቘዸቖኯዸዀዸቚዸቚዸቚዸዄጘዸጜኯጜጘጜኯጜጘጜኯጜጞጜኯጜጞጜኯጜጞ፟፟፟፟፟፟፟

Carlo and a second

No-totots

and the second second

N.CCULL

K. K. A. A. A. C. A.

APPENDIX B. DEFENSE DATA NETWORK QUESTIONNAIRE

Current job title

Amount of time in this positionyrs.mos.

Prior experience with computersyrs.mos.

Number of individuals you supervise

For the next two questions, mark yes or no as appropriate.

- Have you ever heard of the Defense Data Network, sometimes referred to as the DDN, Arpanet or Milnet?yesno
- Have you ever used the Defense Data Network, Arpanet or Milnet?yesno
- If yes, amount of time working with DDNyrs.mos.

If you answered "no" to either of the above two questions, please turn in your questionnaire. DO NOT answer any other questions.

For questions 1 through 7, circle the number that best represents your experiences with the Defense Data Network (DDN), Arpanet, or Milnet.

- 1. The percentage of my job I accomplish using the DDN is 1 2 3 4 5 6 7< 10 10-20 20-30 30-40 40-50 50-60 > 60
- 2. The DDN has reduced my use of the phone, mail and message systems. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree
- 3. Using the DDN has improved my work performance. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree
- 4. I have enough training to use the DDN well. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree
- 5. I feel generally comfortable using the DDN. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree

6. Instructional materials are easy to read and understand. 1 2 3 1 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly

disägree							agree	• ·
 I am rew	arded	for my	skills	in u	sing	the D	DN.	
strongly	-	u	ndecid	ed		0	strong	gly
arvagree							agree	

For questions 8 through 14, circle the number that most closely relates to your overall job.

- 8. I know what I am responsible for with respect to my job. 1 2 3 4 5 6 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree
- 9. Problems in my organization are solved by group effort. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree
- 10. I am self-regulated in accomplishing my tasks. 1 2 3 4 -5 6 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree
- 11. Exercising more of my own judgement would improve the quality of my work. 2 1 3 4 5 6 7 undacidad strongly

inon-in	undecided	strongly
disagree		agree

- 12. The nature of my overall job tasks is routine. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree
- 13. Knowing multiple skills is a part of my job. 2 1 3 - 1 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly disagree
- 14. My present overall job is in line with my career goals. F 2 3 4 5 6 7 strongly undecided strongly disagree agree
- 15. Rank these in order of greatest benefit on how you learned to use the DDN: (i.e., =1 = most important)

agree

-on the job trainingformal classroomsupervisors
- ...standard operating proceduresself taughtcoworkersother (write in).....



LIST OF REFERENCES

- 1. Defense Communications Agency, *The DDN Directory*, by M. K. Stahl, G. Sherwood, N. Fischer, and S. Romano, June 1984.
- 2. DDN Network Information Center, *DDN New User Guide*, SRI International, Menlo Park, CA, 1985.
- 3. Defense Communications Agency Circular 370-P195-4, Defense Data Network Installation, Test, and Acceptance Procedures, September 1986.
- 4. The DDN Course. Network Stategies Inc., Fairfax, VA, April 1986.
- 5. Defense Communications Agency Circular 310-70-X, DDN User Operating Procedures, Office of the Deputy Director DCS Data Systems, September 1986.
- 6. Stallings, W., "The DOD Communication Protocol Standards," Signal, April 1986.
- Elsam, E. S., "The Defense Data Network Hits Its Stride," *Telecommunications*, May 1986.
- 8. Ackoff, R. L., "Management Misinformation Systems," *Management Science*, v. 14, 1967.

access and support support. Internet

- 9. Pava, Calvin, Managing New Office Technology, The Free Press, 1983.
- 10. Stoner, J. A., and Wankel, C., Management, Prentice Hall, 1986.
- 11. Galbraith, J., Designing Complex Organizations, Addison-Wesley, 1973.
- 12. Tichy, N. M., Managing Strategic Change, John Wiley & Sons, 1983.

- 13. Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., and Snyderman, B., *The Motivation to Work*, John Wiley & Sons, 1959.
- 14. Hackman, J. R., and Oldham, G.R., "Development of Job Diagnostic Surveys," Journal of Applied Psychology, v. 3, April 1975.
- 15. Will, G. F., The Pursuit of Happiness, and Other Sobering Thoughts, p. 99, Harper & Row, 1978.
- Dordick, H. S., and Williams, F., Innovative Management Using Telecommunications, pp. 23-35, John Wiley & Sons, 1986.
- 17. Peters. Tom, Thriving on Chaos. pp. 298-300, Alfred A. Knopf, 1987.
- Tushman, M. L., and Nadler, D. A., "Information Processing as an Integrating Concept in Organizational Design," *Academy of Management Review*, v. 3, pp. 613-624, July 1978.
- 19. Crawford, A. B., Jr., "Corporate Electronic Mail--A Computer Intensive Application of Information Technology," *MIS Quarterly*, pp. 1-13, September 1982.
- 20. Stein, C. L., Communications via Electronic Mail: Patterns and Predictors of Use in Organizations. PhD dissertation, University of Southern California, 1983.
- 21. Bolt, Beranek and Newman Report 6098, Network Usage and Cost Sensitivity, by A. Kane, J.G. Herman, A.M. Lambert, and J.P. Seeger, January 1986.
- 22. Kuhn, Robert, Systems Project Engineer, BBN Communications Corporation, McLean, VA, telephone interview, October 1987.
- 23. Edwards, J.R., "Managing the Nation's Leased Telecommunications Dollars," Signal. p. 240, May 1987.
- 24. Downs, Anthony, Inside Bureaucracy, Little Brown & Company, 1971.

- O'Reilly, Charles A., III, "Individuals and Information Overload in Organizations: Is More Necessarily Better?," Academy of Management Journal, v. 23, No. 4, 1980.
- Navy Personnel Research and Development Center Report TR 83-7, Implementation of Planned Change: A Review of Major Issues, by J.P. Sheposh, V.N. Hulton, and G.A. Knudson, pp. 20-25, February 1983.
- 27. Department of the Navy, Commander, Naval Telecommunications Command, Navy Planning Guide for Defense Data Network Implementation, October 1986.
- Nickerson, Raymond S., "Why Interactive Computer Systems are Sometimes Not Used by People Who Might Benefit From Them," *International Journal of Man-Machine Studies*, v. 15, pp. 469-483, November 1981.
- 29. Naval Postgraduate School Report 54-86-0005, *The Basis for Technical Literacy: Experiments in Explorations*, by Norman Lyons, pp. 11-13, April 1986.
- Datta, Jean, "Improving Written Electronic Communications," Administrative Management, pp. 21-23, August 1987.
- 31. Mantleman, Lee, "Orchestrating People and Computers in Their Networks," *Data Communications*, pp. 144-161, September 1987.
- Mitchell, R.B., Crawford, M.C., and Madden, R.B., "An Investigation of Electronic Communications Systems on Organizational Communication Patterns," *Journal of Business Communications*, pp. 9-15, Fall 1986.
- 33. Kiesler, Sara, "The Hidden Messages in Computer Networks," *Harvard Business Review*, pp. 44-60, January 1986.
- 34. Rodriguez, J.M., A Portable Computer Access Architecture for the Defense Data Network, paper presented at the IEEE INFOCOM 86 symposium, August 1986.

- 35. DeSanctis, Gerardine, "Attitudes Toward Telecommuting: Implications for Work-At-Home Programs," Information & Management, pp. 133-138, June 1984.
- Kiesler, S., Siegel, J., and McGuire, T.W., "Social Psychological Aspects of Computer-Mediated Communications," *American Psychologist*, pp. 1123-1132, October 1984.
- 37. Center for Information Systems Research, Sloan School of Management, Massachusetts Institute of Technology CISR WP No. 156, Sloan WP No. 1884-87, Information Technology Impacts on Power and Influence, by S. Lee and M.E. Treacy, 1987.
- Rousseau, Denise M., "Technological Differences in Job Characteristics, Employee Satisfaction, and Motivation: A Synthesis of Job Design Research and Sociotechnical Systems Theory," Organizational Behaviour and Human Performance, v. 19, pp. 18-42, 1977.
- 39. Anderson, T. W., and Sclove, S. L., *The Statistical Analysis of Data*. The Scientific Press, 1986.
- 40. Nadler, D. A., Feedback and Organization Development: Using Data-based Methods, pp. 177-183, Addison-Wesley, 1977.
- 41. Navy Personnel Research and Development Center Report TR 85-37. Boredom at Work: Implications For The Design of Jobs With Variable Requirements, by E. W. Kerce, pp. 15-22, September 1985.

INITIAL DISTRIBUTION LIST

No. Copies Defense Technical Information Center 1. 2 Cameron Station Alexandria, VA 22304-6145 2. Library, Code 0142 2 Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5002 3. Professor Judith Lind 2 Code 55Li Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5000 Professor Gary Poock 4. 1 Code 55Pk Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5000 5. Professor Benjanun Roberts 1 Code 54Ro Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5000 6. Professor Dan C. Boger 1 Code 54Bo Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5000 Chanteyl Woleslagle 2 Code 54 Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5000 8. Capt. Robert Day 2 1008 Leahy Road Monterey, CA 93943

1.2.1.1.1.1 12222222 5